1531[™] IEEE Guide for Application and Specification of Harmonic Filters

IEEE Power Engineering Society

Sponsored by the Transmission & Distribution Committee



Published by The Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc. 3 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10016-5997, USA

24 November 2003

Print: SH95143 PDF: SS95143

IEEE Guide for Application and Specification of Harmonic Filters

Sponsor

Transmission & Distribution Committee of the IEEE Power Engineering Society

Approved 12 June 2003

IEEE-SA Standards Board

Abstract: Guidelines for specification of components, protection, and control of harmonic filters are provided. This guide applies to the use of 50 Hz and 60 Hz passive shunt power harmonic filters on low- and medium-voltage electric power systems. This document is the first guide specifically created for harmonic filters, although standards do presently exist for most of the components that are used in a filter. Applications including industrial low-voltage facilities, utility medium-voltage systems, and arc furnace installations are covered.

Keywords: capacitors, harmonic filters, inductors, notch filters, passive filters, power filters, power system harmonics, reactors, switched capacitor filters

 Print:
 ISBN 0-7381-3718-9
 SH95143

 PDF:
 ISBN 0-7381-3719-7
 SS95143

The Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc. 3 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10016-5997, USA

Copyright © 2003 by the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc. All rights reserved. Published 24 November 2003. Printed in the United States of America.

National Electrical Code and NEC are both registered trademarks of the National Fire Protection Association, Inc.

IEEE is a registered trademark in the U.S. Patent & Trademark Office, owned by the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Incorporated.

No part of this publication may be reproduced in any form, in an electronic retrieval system or otherwise, without the prior written permission of the publisher.

IEEE Standards documents are developed within the IEEE Societies and the Standards Coordinating Committees of the IEEE Standards Association (IEEE-SA) Standards Board. The IEEE develops its standards through a consensus development process, approved by the American National Standards Institute, which brings together volunteers representing varied viewpoints and interests to achieve the final product. Volunteers are not necessarily members of the Institute and serve without compensation. While the IEEE administers the process and establishes rules to promote fairness in the consensus development process, the IEEE does not independently evaluate, test, or verify the accuracy of any of the information contained in its standards.

Use of an IEEE Standard is wholly voluntary. The IEEE disclaims liability for any personal injury, property or other damage, of any nature whatsoever, whether special, indirect, consequential, or compensatory, directly or indirectly resulting from the publication, use of, or reliance upon this, or any other IEEE Standard document.

The IEEE does not warrant or represent the accuracy or content of the material contained herein, and expressly disclaims any express or implied warranty, including any implied warranty of merchantability or fitness for a specific purpose, or that the use of the material contained herein is free from patent infringement. IEEE Standards documents are supplied "AS IS."

The existence of an IEEE Standard does not imply that there are no other ways to produce, test, measure, purchase, market, or provide other goods and services related to the scope of the IEEE Standard. Furthermore, the viewpoint expressed at the time a standard is approved and issued is subject to change brought about through developments in the state of the art and comments received from users of the standard. Every IEEE Standard is subjected to review at least every five years for revision or reaffirmation. When a document is more than five years old and has not been reaffirmed, it is reasonable to conclude that its contents, although still of some value, do not wholly reflect the present state of the art. Users are cautioned to check to determine that they have the latest edition of any IEEE Standard.

In publishing and making this document available, the IEEE is not suggesting or rendering professional or other services for, or on behalf of, any person or entity. Nor is the IEEE undertaking to perform any duty owed by any other person or entity to another. Any person utilizing this, and any other IEEE Standards document, should rely upon the advice of a competent professional in determining the exercise of reasonable care in any given circumstances.

Interpretations: Occasionally questions may arise regarding the meaning of portions of standards as they relate to specific applications. When the need for interpretations is brought to the attention of IEEE, the Institute will initiate action to prepare appropriate responses. Since IEEE Standards represent a consensus of concerned interests, it is important to ensure that any interpretation has also received the concurrence of a balance of interests. For this reason, IEEE and the members of its societies and Standards Coordinating Committees are not able to provide an instant response to interpretation requests except in those cases where the matter has previously received formal consideration.

Comments for revision of IEEE Standards are welcome from any interested party, regardless of membership affiliation with IEEE. Suggestions for changes in documents should be in the form of a proposed change of text, together with appropriate supporting comments. Comments on standards and requests for interpretations should be addressed to:

Secretary, IEEE-SA Standards Board 445 Hoes Lane P.O. Box 1331 Piscataway, NJ 08855-1331 USA

Note: Attention is called to the possibility that implementation of this standard may require use of subject matter covered by patent rights. By publication of this standard, no position is taken with respect to the existence or validity of any patent rights in connection therewith. The IEEE shall not be responsible for identifying patents for which a license may be required by an IEEE standard or for conducting inquiries into the legal validity or scope of those patents that are brought to its attention.

Authorization to photocopy portions of any individual standard for internal or personal use is granted by the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., provided that the appropriate fee is paid to Copyright Clearance Center. To arrange for payment of licensing fee, please contact Copyright Clearance Center, Customer Service, 222 Rosewood Drive, Danvers, MA 01923 USA; +1 978 750 8400. Permission to photocopy portions of any individual standard for educational classroom use can also be obtained through the Copyright Clearance Center.

Introduction

(This introduction is not part of IEEE Std 1531-2003, IEEE Guide for Application and Specification of Harmonic Filters.)

This guide addresses the specification of the (1) components, (2) protection, and (3) control of harmonic filters. It does not address the proper sizing or configuration of harmonic filters to achieve desired performance. This document provides guidelines for passive shunt harmonic filters for use on 50 Hz and 60 Hz power systems. No specific standards exist for harmonic filters, although standards do exist for virtually all of the components that are used in a filter.

Participants

During the time this guide was being developed, the IEEE working group sponsored by the Capacitor Subcommittee of the Transmission & Distribution Committee of the IEEE Power Engineering Society had the following membership:

| Rajaie Abu-Hashim | Mack Grady | Jeffrey Nelson |
|-------------------|----------------------|--------------------------|
| Ignacio Ares | Paul Griesmer | Richard Nelson |
| Steve Ashmore | Mark Halpin | George Newcomb |
| Jim Barcus | Erik Hanson | Dale Osborn |
| Ray Beighley | John E. Harder | James Osborne |
| Murray Bennett | David Hartmann | Brian Prokuda |
| Antone Bonner | Gil Hensley | Steven Raedy |
| John Boomer | Stephen Hertz | W. Edward Reid |
| Reuben Burch | Luther Holloman | Kurt Reim |
| Mark Carnes | Ward Jewell | Sebastian Rios-Marguello |
| Bill Chai | Suresh C. Kapoor | Frank Risco |
| Alex Chan | Mark Kempker | Tim Rollman |
| Simon Chano | Scott Kinney | Donald R. Ruthman |
| Stephen Colvin | Blane Leuschner | Jan Samuelsson |
| Rory Dwyer | William Liverant | Frank Santora |
| Stuart Edmondson | Nicholas Losito, Jr. | Arash Sarshar |
| A. A. El-Keib | Mike Lowenstein | Richard Sevigny |
| Alexander Emanuel | Allan Ludbrook | Bob Shanahan |
| Joseph Enk | Dan Luke | Susan Shea |
| Wade Enright | Pedro Maigler | Mohamed Shwehdi |
| Clay Fellers | Bill McConnell | Hari Singh |
| Karl Fender | Ben Mehraban | Paul Steciuk |
| Gerald Fenner | Stan A. Miske, Jr. | Keith Stump |
| Larry Fish | Larry Morgan | Van Wagner |
| Chuck Gougler | | Peter Yan |

Thomas E. Grebe, Chair

At the time it approved this guide, the Capacitor Subcommittee had the following membership:

| | J. H. Nelson, Chair T. E. Grebe, Vice Chair C. L. Fellers, Secretary | |
|--------------|--|--------------|
| I. Ares | S. Chano | P. Griesmer |
| S. Ashmore | S. Colvin | J. E. Harder |
| B. Bhargava | S. Edmondson | L. Holloman |
| J. A. Bonner | C. Ervin | I. Horvat |
| S. Cesari | K. Fender | S. C. Kapoor |
| B. Chai | C. Gougler | J. Maneatis |

M. McVey A. S. Mehraban S. A. Miske, Jr. J. Osborne W. Edward Reid S. Rios-Marcuello T. Rozek D. R. Ruthman J. Samuelsson E. Sanchez R. Sevigny P. Steciuk R. S. Thallam A. Van Leuven

The following members of the balloting committee voted on this guide. Balloters may have voted for approval, disapproval, or abstention.

Roy W. Alexander Ignacio Ares Raymond E. Beighley J. Antone Bonner Joseph F. Buch Reuben F. Burch. IV James J. Burke Frederick W. Burtelson Simon R. Chano Stephen C. Colvin Guru Dutt Dhingra Paul R. Drum Rory Dwyer Stuart Edmondson Alexander E. Emanuel Clay Fellers Karl Fender Gerald E. Fenner George Gela

Charles A. Gougler Thomas E. Grebe Randall C. Groves Mark S. Halpin John E. Harder Luther Holloman Ivan Horvat Ward Jewell George G. Karady Mark J. Kempker Blane Leuschner H. Peter Lips Nicholas Losito Michael Z. Lowenstein Allan Ludbrook Gregory Luri Massimo Mattiuzzo Mark McVey A. S. Mehraban Gary L. Michel

Daleep C. Mohla Jeffrey H. Nelson Richard E. Nelson Robert G. Oswald Carlos O. Peixoto F. S. Prabhakara Brian Prokuda Pier-Andre Rancourt Radhakrishna V. Rebbapragada Kurt E. Reim Robert J. Rusch Donald R. Ruthman Richard C. Sevigny Mohamed H. Shwehdi Harinderpal Singh Rao Thallam Van Wagner Daniel J. Ward James W. Wilson

When the IEEE-SA Standards Board approved this guide on 12 June 2003, it had the following membership:

Don Wright, Chair Howard M. Frazier, Vice Chair Judith Gorman, Secretary

H. Stephen Berger Joseph A. Bruder Bob Davis Richard DeBlasio Julian Forster* Toshio Fukuda Arnold M. Greenspan Raymond Hapeman Donald N. Heirman Laura Hitchcock Richard H. Hulett Anant Kumar Jain Lowell G. Johnson Joseph L. Koepfinger* Tom McGean Steve M. Mills

Daleep C. Mohla William J. Moylan Paul Nikolich Gary S. Robinson Malcolm V. Thaden Geoffrey O. Thompson Doug Topping Howard L. Wolfman

*Member Emeritus

Also included are the following nonvoting IEEE-SA Standards Board liaisons:

Alan Cookson, *NIST Representative* Satish K. Aggarwal, *NRC Representative*

Savoula Amanatidis IEEE Standards Managing Editor

Contents

| 1. | Sco | pe | . 1 |
|----|-----|---|-----|
| 2. | Ref | erences | . 1 |
| 3. | Def | initions | . 3 |
| 4. | Har | monic filter design considerations | . 3 |
| | 41 | Filter canacitive reactive power | 4 |
| | 4 2 | Harmonic limitations | |
| | 1.2 | 4 ? 1 System limitations | 5 |
| | | 4.2.2 Equipment withstand canabilities | 5 |
| | 4.3 | Normal system conditions | . 7 |
| | 4.4 | Normal harmonic filter conditions | . 8 |
| | 4.5 | Contingency system conditions | 8 |
| | 4.6 | Contingency harmonic filter conditions | . 9 |
| | 4.7 | Harmonic filter locations | . 9 |
| | 4.8 | Harmonic filter configurations | . 9 |
| | 4.9 | Using existing capacitor banks | 10 |
| 5. | Lov | v-voltage shunt harmonic filters | 10 |
| | 5.1 | Introduction | 10 |
| | 5.2 | Technical specifications | 11 |
| | | 5.2.1 Harmonic filter capacitors | 11 |
| | | 5.2.2 Harmonic filter reactors | 11 |
| | | 5.2.3 Capacitor and reactor tolerances | 13 |
| | | 5.2.4 Contactors | 14 |
| | | 5.2.5 Fuses | 15 |
| | | 5.2.6 Circuit breakers | 15 |
| | | 5.2.7 Connections | 15 |
| | | 5.2.8 High-pass harmonic filter resistor assemblies | 16 |
| | | 5.2.9 Enclosure and general construction | 16 |
| | | 5.2.10 Integrated harmonic filter assembly | 16 |
| | 5.3 | General design considerations | 16 |
| | | 5.3.1 Selecting the point of connection | 17 |
| | | 5.3.2 Component selection | 20 |
| | 5.4 | Case study | 22 |
| 6. | Mee | dium- and high-voltage harmonic filters | 23 |
| | 6.1 | Introduction | 23 |
| | 6.2 | Harmonic overload considerations | 24 |
| | 6.3 | Major component specifications | 25 |
| | | 6.3.1 Harmonic filter capacitor assemblies | 25 |
| | | 6.3.2 Harmonic filter reactors | 30 |
| | | 6.3.3 Harmonic filter resistor assemblies | 32 |
| | | 6.3.4 Switchgear | 33 |
| | | 6.3.5 Conductors | 34 |
| | | 6.3.6 Grounding switch and key interlock | 34 |
| | | 6.3.7 Surge arresters. | 34 |
| | 6.4 | Harmonic filter switching control | 36 |

| 6.5 Protection | | 37 | |
|----------------|---------|--|----|
| | 6.5.1 | Relay considerations for harmonic filter applications | 37 |
| | 6.5.2 | Overvoltage protection | 38 |
| | 6.5.3 | Overcurrent protection | 38 |
| | 6.5.4 | Harmonic filter unbalance and detuning protection | 39 |
| | 6.5.5 | Harmonic filter overload protection | 40 |
| 6.6 | Harmo | onic filter design procedure | 41 |
| | 6.6.1 | Step 1: Determine harmonic filter bank kvar size | 41 |
| | 6.6.2 | Step 2: Select initial harmonic filter tuning | 41 |
| | 6.6.3 | Step 3: Optimize the harmonic filter configuration to meet harmonic guidelines | 43 |
| | 6.6.4 | Step 4: Determine the component ratings | 44 |
| | 6.6.5 | Numerical example | 49 |
| | 6.6.6 | Specific filter application information | 53 |
| Annex A (in | nformat | ive) Bibliography | 56 |
| Annex B (ii | nformat | ive) Harmonic filter types | 57 |
| Annex C (in | nformat | ive) Estimating harmonic filter harmonic currents | 58 |

IEEE Guide for Application and Specification of Harmonic Filters

1. Scope

This guide addresses the selection of the (1) components, (2) protection, and (3) control of harmonic filters. It does not address the engineering required to establish the proper size and configuration of harmonic filters to achieve desired performance. This document provides guidelines for passive shunt harmonic filters for use on 50 Hz and 60 Hz power systems to reduce harmonic distortion on the system(s). (No specific standards exist for harmonic filters, although standards do exist for most of the components that are used in a filter. This guide references standards where they exist and gives typical criteria where appropriate standards do not exist.)

2. References

This guide shall be used in conjunction with the following publications. The dates shown indicate the current version of the standard at the time of publication of this guide. Except for the quotations from IEEE Std 18-2002, any version of the referenced publications published since 1 January 1990 is an appropriate reference. In all cases, reference to the most recent approved version is preferred, regardless of the date shown in this guide.

ANSI C37.06-2000, American National Standard for Switchgear—AC High-Voltage Circuit Breakers Rated on a Symmetrical Current Basis—Preferred Ratings and Related Required Capabilities.¹

ANSI C37.66-1969 (Reaff 1997), American National Standard for Requirements for Oil-Filled Capacitor Switches for Alternating-Current Systems.

IEEE P519.1/D8b, Draft Guide for Applying Harmonic Limits on Power Systems.²

IEEE Std C37.012TM-1979, IEEE Application Guide for Capacitance Current Switching for AC High-Voltage Circuit Breakers Rated on a Symmetrical Current Basis.^{3, 4}

¹ANSI publications are available from the Sales Department, American National Standards Institute, 25 West 43rd Street, 4th Floor, New York, NY 10036, USA (http://www.ansi.org/).

 $^{^{2}}$ This IEEE standards project was not approved by the IEEE-SA Standards Board at the time this publication went to press. For further information about obtaining a draft, contact the IEEE.

³The IEEE standards or products referred to in Clause 2 (except IEEE P519.1) are trademarks owned by the Institute of Electrical and Electronic Engineers, Incorporated.

⁴IEEE publications are available from the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Inc., 445 Hoes Lane, P.O. Box 1331, Piscataway, NJ 08855-1331, USA (http://standards.ieee.org/).

IEEE Std C37.04[™]-1999, IEEE Standard Rating Structure for AC High-Voltage Circuit Breakers.

IEEE Std C37.48[™]-1997, IEEE Guide for Application, Operation, and Maintenance of High-Voltage Fuses, Distribution Enclosed Single-Pole Air Switches, Fuse Disconnecting Switches, and Accessories.

IEEE Std C37.99[™]-2000, IEEE Guide for the Protection of Shunt Capacitor Banks.

IEEE Std C57.12.00[™]-2000, IEEE General Requirements for Liquid-Immersed Distribution, Power, and Regulating Transformers.

IEEE Std C57.12.01TM-1998, IEEE General Requirements for Dry-Type Distribution and Power Transformers Including Those with Solid-Cast and/or Resin-Encapsulated Windings.

IEEE Std C57.16[™]-1996 (Reaff 2001), IEEE Standard Requirements, Terminology, and Test Code for Dry-Type Air-Core Series-Connected Reactors.

IEEE Std C57.110TM-1998, IEEE Recommended Practice for Establishing Transformer Capability When Supplying Nonsinusoidal Load Currents.

IEEE Std C62.22TM-1997, IEEE Guide for Application of Metal-Oxide Surge Arresters for Alternating-Current Systems.

IEEE Std 18TM-2002, IEEE Standard for Shunt Power Capacitors.

IEEE Std 32[™]-1972 (Reaff 1997), IEEE Standard Requirements, Terminology, and Test Procedure for Neutral Grounding Devices.

IEEE Std 141TM-1993, IEEE Recommended Practice for Electric Power Distribution for Industrial Plants (*IEEE Red Book*TM).

IEEE Std 399TM-1997, IEEE Recommended Practice for Industrial and Commercial Power Systems Analysis (*IEEE Brown Book*TM).

IEEE Std 519TM-1992, IEEE Recommended Practices and Requirements for Harmonic Control in Electrical Power Systems.

IEEE Std 1036[™]-1992, IEEE Guide for Application of Shunt Power Capacitors.

NEMA MG 1-1998, Motors and Generators.⁵

NFPA 70-2002, National Electrical Code[®] (NEC[®]).^{6, 7}

UL 508-1999, Standard for Safety for Industrial Control Equipment.⁸

UL 508A-2001, Standard for Safety for Industrial Control Panels.

UL 810-1995, Standard for Safety for Capacitors.

⁵NEMA publications are available from Global Engineering Documents, 15 Inverness Way East, Englewood, Colorado 80112, USA (http://global.ihs.com/).

⁶National Electrical Code and NEC are both registered trademarks of the National Fire Protection Association, Inc.

⁷NFPA publications are available from Publications Sales, National Fire Protection Association, 1 Batterymarch Park, P.O. Box 9101, Quincy, MA 02269-9101, USA (http://www.nfpa.org/).

⁸UL standards are available from Global Engineering Documents, 15 Inverness Way East, Englewood, Colorado 80112, USA (http://global.ihs.com/).

UL 1561-1999, Standard for Dry-Type General Purpose and Power Transformers.

UL 1562-1999, Standard for Transformers, Distribution, Dry-Type-Over 600 Volts.

3. Definitions

3.1 kvar: (Pronounced kay var, with emphasis on the first syllable) **a)** The size or magnitude of a reactive power source, which would usually be measured in (units of) kilovar. **b)** Abbreviation for kilovar, a unit of reactive power.

3.2 Mvar: (Pronounced em var, with emphasis on the first syllable) **a**) The size or magnitude of a reactive power source, which would usually be measured in (units of) megavar. **b**) Abbreviation for megavar, a unit of reactive power.

The meaning of other terms used in this standard shall be as defined in *The Authoritative Dictionary of IEEE Standards Terms*, Seventh Edition [B1]⁹.

4. Harmonic filter design considerations

Harmonic distortion on the power system is caused by nonlinear devices that produce distorted or nonsinusoidal waveforms. Examples include electronically controlled devices (such as rectifiers and power controllers), arcing loads (such as arc furnaces and arc welders), and magnetic devices to a lesser degree (such as rotating ac machinery and transformers). Excessive harmonic voltage and/or current can cause damage to equipment and the electrical system. IEEE Std 519-1992¹⁰ gives application guidelines. One of the common ways of controlling harmonic distortion is to place a passive shunt harmonic filter close to the harmonicproducing load(s). The harmonic-producing device can generally be viewed as a source of harmonic current. The objective of the harmonic filter is to shunt some of the harmonic current from the load into the filter, thereby reducing the amount of harmonic current that flows into the power system (see Figure 1). The simplest type of shunt harmonic filter is a series inductance/capacitance (LC) circuit as illustrated in Figure 2. More complex harmonic filters may involve multiple LC circuits, some of which may also include a resistor. Some commonly used harmonic filter arrangements are shown and discussed in Annex B.



NOTE—A harmonic filter in the vicinity of the harmonic-producing loads shunts some of the harmonic current, thereby reducing the amount of harmonic current flowing from the loads into the power source.

Figure 1—Harmonic filter shunting harmonic current between harmonic-producing loads and power source

⁹The numbers in brackets correspond to the numbers of the bibliography in Annex A.

¹⁰Information on references can be found in Clause 2.



Figure 2—Single-tuned harmonic filter

Key filter design considerations include the following:

- a) Reactive power (kilovar) requirements
- b) Harmonic limitations
- c) Normal system conditions, including ambient harmonics
- d) Normal harmonic filter conditions
- e) Contingency system conditions, including ambient harmonics
- f) Contingency harmonic filter conditions

These considerations can be grouped into performance and rating criteria. The performance criteria relate to normal expected operating conditions and include capacitive reactive power requirements, harmonic limitations, normal system conditions, and normal harmonic filter conditions. The rating criteria relate to unusual conditions that may place a more severe duty on the equipment. These unusual conditions include contingency system conditions and contingency harmonic filter conditions. Under the contingency conditions, it may be acceptable to have a more relaxed harmonic limitation. These six design considerations are discussed in 4.1 through 4.6.

4.1 Filter capacitive reactive power

The major components of a harmonic filter generally include capacitors, reactors, and resistors (if any) designed to achieve acceptable harmonic control. Because of the capacitors, the harmonic filter provides power frequency capacitive reactive power to the power system. In order to optimize the system costs, it is important to know how much capacitive reactive power (kilovars) is needed (if any) and what savings can be obtained by adding the capacitive reactive power. The reactive power and voltage control requirements may dictate that the harmonic filter bank be switched in steps. IEEE Std 1036-1992 indicates that the maximum capacitive reactive power (kilovars) step size is typically limited to a value so that the fundamental frequency voltage change is no greater than 2% to 3% in order to have a minimal effect on system loads. Consequently, the total and step kvar sizes are generally determined by the fundamental frequency load flow and the voltage control requirements.

4.2 Harmonic limitations

Harmonic limitations are defined in terms of system limitations and equipment withstand capabilities, as summarized in 4.2.1 and 4.2.2.

4.2.1 System limitations

System harmonic limitations are generally defined to ensure that equipment does not malfunction or fail due to excessive harmonic distortion. System limitations are recommended in Clause 10 and Clause 11 of IEEE Std 519-1992.¹¹ IEEE Std 519-1992 recommends that the total voltage distortion at the point of common coupling to the utility be limited to 5% or less, depending upon the system voltage level and other factors; and 8% or less for most user busses at less than 1 kV. The total demand current distortion at the point of common coupling to the utility is limited to the range of 2.5% to 20%, depending upon the size of the customer's harmonic-producing load and other factors. (See IEEE Std 519-1992 for details.) The document also gives higher limits for conditions lasting less than 1 hour.

4.2.2 Equipment withstand capabilities

Some of the withstand capabilities that are described in existing equipment standards are summarized in this subclause.

When transformers are operating at rated load, the total harmonic current distortion should be limited to 5% as defined in IEEE Std C57.12.00-2000 and IEEE Std C57.12.01-1998.¹² IEEE Std C57.110-1998 defines the method for derating transformers when supplying nonsinusoidal loads. UL 1561-1999 and UL 1562-1999 define the transformer K-rating that is intended for use in high harmonic environments.

IEEE Std 18-2002¹³ states that "[c]apacitors are intended to be operated at or below their rated voltage. Capacitors shall be capable of continuous operation under contingency system and bank conditions provided that none of the following limitations are exceeded:

- "a) 110% of rated rms [root-mean-square] voltage
- "b) 120% of rated peak voltage, i.e., peak voltage not exceeding 1.2 x (square root of two) x rated rms voltage, including harmonics, but excluding transients
- "c) 135% of nominal rms current based on rated kvar and rated voltage
- "d) 135% of rated kvar"

Additional application guidelines for capacitors are given in IEEE Std 1036-1992. It should be noted that capacitor fuses should be rated for the voltage and current, including harmonics, in a filter application.

The limitation to 135% of rated kvar in IEEE Std 18-2002 is based on dielectric heating at fundamental frequency and is based on the thermal stability test in that standard. The 135% limit in IEEE Std 18-2002 is based on a maximum operating voltage of 110% of rated voltage and a maximum capacitance tolerance of +15% (the maximum allowable tolerance at the time the 135% limit was set). $(1.1^2 \times 1.15 \approx 1.35$, thus 135%.)

The total dielectric heating in a capacitor is a function of the force between the electrodes, the capacitance of the dielectric, and the number of force reversals per second.

The force is the result of the attraction of the positive and negative charges on the electrodes. The magnitude of the charge Q on each of the electrodes is proportional to the voltage difference V between the electrodes. The force is proportional to the product of the charge magnitudes. Because the positive and negative charges are equal to each other and are proportional to the applied voltage, the force (and losses) varies as the square of the applied voltage.

¹¹This information is from the referenced standard(s) and does not transplant these limits to this guide. See the first paragraph of Clause 2.

¹²See footnote 11.

¹³This quotation is from the referenced standard(s) and does not transplant these limits to this guide.

The total dielectric heating varies linearly with the capacitance of the dielectric. Changes in capacitance due to change in area of the dielectric, thickness of the dielectric, and changes in the dielectric constant due to small materials variations all affect the total heating linearly.

The dc dielectric losses and resulting heating in a high voltage power capacitor are very small. The dielectric losses are dominated by ac losses. Each time the force is reversed there is an amount of loss. The ac losses are linear function of the applied frequency.

Therefore, for a single frequency, the dielectric losses are proportional to the square of the applied voltage, the capacitance, and the frequency, as shown in Equation (1):

Dielectric Loss
$$\propto f C V^2$$
 (1)

Note that, for a capacitor, the reactive power Q is

$$Q = (V)(I) \tag{2}$$

$$= (V)(2\pi f C V) \tag{3}$$

$$= 2\pi f C(V)^2 \tag{4}$$

Note the similarity in the expressions for dielectric loss and Q. For a single frequency, the dielectric heating in the capacitor is proportional to the reactive power (measured in kilovars).

For a capacitor in a filter, there are multiple frequencies generating the dielectric heating. For filter applications where (1) there is no significant dc voltage present, (2) the harmonic voltages across the capacitor are smaller than the fundamental frequency voltage, and (3) the highest significant frequency is less than about 1 kHz, the dielectric heating will be within the 135% limit if

$$\left|2000 \ \pi f C \sum_{h} (hV(h)^2)\right| \le 1.35 \left|Q_{\text{rated}}\right| \tag{5}$$

or

$$\sum_{h} (V(h)I(h)) \le 1.35 |Q_{\text{rated}}|$$
(6)

where

f is the rated frequency of the capacitor and system (Hz),

C is the actual capacitance of the capacitor (F),

h is the harmonic order, for all significant harmonics including the fundamental (h = 1),

V(h) is the capacitor voltage (rms) at the *h* harmonic (kV),

I(h) is the capacitor current (rms) at the *h* harmonic (A),

 Q_{rated} is the capacitor rated reactive power (kvar).

The inequality in Equation (6) is the one normally used to determine whether the dielectric heating is acceptable. While dc losses in a capacitor are small, the presence of dc voltage can increase the maximum charge and significantly increase the ac losses. That increase is not reflected in the above inequalities, limiting the use of these inequalities to applications where no significant dc voltage is present.

Higher frequency currents may result in eddy current or induced losses in addition to the dielectric losses. Where the harmonic currents are smaller than the fundamental current, the error caused by ignoring these losses is negligible. Where the harmonic currents are larger or there are significant harmonic currents above 1 kHz, higher frequency capacitor equipment designs, which are beyond the scope of this guide, may be required.

Proposed derating curves for harmonic voltages for constant speed motors are given in various references (see IEEE Task Force [B3] and Rice [B6]). Typically, these curves indicate that the derating of the motor occurs for voltage distortions greater than 5%. For a typical distribution of harmonics, significant derating of the motor begins at about 8% total harmonic distortion (see IEEE P519.1/D8b¹⁴).

4.3 Normal system conditions

The normal system operating conditions are generally evaluated to assure that the harmonic filter design will meet specific reactive power (kilovars) and harmonic performance requirements for these conditions. These normal system operating conditions include the following:

- a) All harmonic voltages and currents, including
 - 1) Characteristic harmonics of all expected loads.
 - 2) Uncharacteristic harmonics. Frequencies that are not theoretically characteristic of a perfectly operating device may sometimes occur. (These uncharacteristic harmonic frequencies may include even harmonics, triplen harmonics, and harmonics that are not integral multiples of the power system frequency.) Analysis, experience, and field measurements will often help to quantify these values.
 - 3) *Background and future harmonic loads*. Harmonics generated by other loads near the proposed load location will affect the harmonic current in the harmonic filter. In addition, some future harmonic generating loads should be anticipated to reduce the probability of overloading the harmonic filter.
- b) System voltage variation. Overvoltages to +5% are typically considered for normal load conditions and +10% for unloaded system conditions. Undervoltage conditions are generally not critical for harmonic filter design, unless voltage is lost completely. In that case, the harmonic filters should be disconnected from the system immediately until the system is restored to normal conditions.
- c) System frequency variation. On the interconnected power system, frequency variations beyond ± 0.1 Hz are rare. Larger frequency variations may occur when the system is fed from a local generator. They can affect the duty of the harmonic filter and can also have a profound impact on the overall harmonic performance of the system.
- d) Power system configurations. Possible variations in the power system configuration that may affect the filter should be evaluated. For example, in industrial power systems, changes in the supply transformer and reconfigurations of the medium voltage feeders have the largest effect on the system impedance. Changes in the source power system (e.g., generation, transmission/distribution, transformer changes) may also have a significant impact. These evaluations should include a realistic representation of the system and its components—generators, transformers (with proper winding connections), lines (with conductor skin effect and capacitive charging), capacitors, reactors, and all sources of harmonics electrically close to the proposed filter site.
- e) *Loading conditions*. Variations in the system load, as it affects the harmonic filter design, should be considered. Conditions to be considered include variations in the harmonic-producing loads, in the status of ac motors, and in the status of system capacitor banks and other harmonic filters. Linear (resistive) loads also should be included as they help to dampen harmonic resonant peaks.
- f) *System voltage unbalance.* System unbalance can result in increased harmonic injections from distortion-producing equipment, particularly triplen harmonics, and facilitate their propagation on the system.

¹⁴Numbers preceded by P are IEEE authorized standards projects that were not approved by the IEEE-SA Standards Board at the time this publication went to press. For information about obtaining drafts, contact the IEEE.

4.4 Normal harmonic filter conditions

Filters are seldom tuned to their exact calculated values. It is necessary to allow for the following parameter variations when evaluating the performance of the harmonic filters:

- a) *Component tolerances.* Manufacturing tolerances must be considered for the inductance, capacitance, and resistance.
- b) *Ambient temperature variations*. Capacitance and resistance both vary with temperature. The appropriate temperature range depends upon the location. Capacitance variation with temperature is typically in the range of 0.4% to 0.8% decrease per 10 °C increase in temperature.
- c) *Capacitor element or unit failures.* Capacitor failures will result in a change in the harmonic filter tuning and may result in overvoltage on some parts of the capacitor bank. Larger harmonic filters may continue to give acceptable performance with a limited number of failed capacitor elements or units. However, for smaller harmonic filters, the failure of one capacitor element or unit can cause a relatively large change and require the harmonic filter to be immediately disconnected.

4.5 Contingency system conditions

The contingency system operating conditions are generally evaluated to assure that the harmonic filter design will be rated adequately to handle these conditions although the normal system distortion limits may be exceeded. These include the following:

a) *Switching*. The switching of harmonic filters or other system components may result in significant overvoltage duties for the harmonic filter components.

The energization of large transformers can result in severe dynamic overvoltages on harmonic filter components.

When several single-tuned harmonic filters are energized simultaneously, the transient overvoltages can be very severe on small harmonic filters tuned to relatively low frequencies.

When multiple-tuned steps are switched individually, it may be necessary to assure that they are switched on and off in the proper order so that an undesirable parallel resonance does not occur.

When switching harmonic filters, it is important that an adequate delay time be maintained between an open and a subsequent close. This delay allows time for the trapped charge on the capacitors to decay so that the resultant energizing transient voltages are not excessive. A delay time of 5 min is used with high-voltage capacitors (rated over 1000 V, where IEEE Std 18-2002 requires a discharge to 50 V in 5 min), and 1 min for low-voltage capacitors (rated at 1000 V or less, where IEEE Std 18-2002 requires a discharge to 50 V in 1 min). Shorter time delays may be acceptable if a modest increase in the energizing transient is acceptable. See 5.2.1 and 6.4.

Where very short delays are required, discharge devices to rapidly discharge the capacitors may be used. Switching devices with insertion resistors or reactors, or switching devices designed to close with near-zero voltage across the open contacts, may also be used to control system transient voltages.

- b) *Application of filters tuned to the same frequency*. When harmonic filters are applied at the same location and are tuned to the same frequency, care must be taken to assure that there is acceptable sharing of the harmonic currents among the harmonic filters. This current sharing is a function of the differences in the impedances of the harmonic filters.
- c) *System frequency variation.* Frequency variations greater than the frequency variations for the normal system conditions are generally considered.
- d) *Power system configurations.* Single and double contingency conditions, which are more severe than the normal operating conditions, are evaluated. Sometimes it may be desirable that these conditions also meet the harmonic distortion criteria that were considered for normal operating conditions. Changes in system configuration (including connection/outage of harmonic filters) often

result in significant shifts of harmonic resonant peaks, thus affecting the duties and design of multiple harmonic filter installations.

- e) *Characteristic and uncharacteristic harmonics.* Higher values than the values used to evaluate performance are typically used for the rating of the equipment.
- f) Unknown harmonic sources. It is best to identify all of the significant harmonic sources on the power system. Sometimes such identification may be difficult and carefully conducted and documented field measurements may be helpful in resolving this issue. It is often advisable to add a factor to the calculated harmonic duties to account for unknown or future harmonic sources when rating the equipment.

4.6 Contingency harmonic filter conditions

When rating the harmonic filter components, the same factors that were given in 4.4 for normal harmonic filter conditions (without any failure or abnormality in the harmonic filter) are typically used, but with wider ranges. In addition, when multiple harmonic filters are applied at the same location, the outage of a complete harmonic filter is often considered in rating the filter components. In some applications, the outage of a single harmonic filter may require that the other harmonic filters be disconnected so that their ratings are not exceeded.

4.7 Harmonic filter locations

Harmonic filters may be located at individual devices or at a common bus that feeds many loads. They may be located at low voltage (e.g., 480 V) or at higher voltages (e.g., 4.16 kV or 12.47 kV). The alternatives in a given application should be evaluated based on meeting the acceptable harmonic voltages and currents and the effect of the resulting harmonic load flows on the affected equipment and conductors (e.g., losses, heating).

4.8 Harmonic filter configurations

For ungrounded filters, the same filtering effectiveness can be achieved with a variety of wye and/or delta configurations. The ratings and the capability of the available hardware will often dictate the selection of the arrangement. Figure 3 illustrates configurations that are indistinguishable in terms of their filtering characteristics.



Figure 3—Different configurations that give identical filtering performance

The schematic to be used and the relative positions of the components are generally dictated by construction and/or protection considerations. The filters illustrated are all single-frequency harmonic filters, tuned for one frequency. A wide variety of schematics are also available for multiple-tuned harmonic filters.

4.9 Using existing capacitor banks

Occasionally, consideration will be given to converting an existing capacitor bank to a harmonic filter capacitor bank. It is important to compare the unit ratings of the existing bank with the required ratings for a harmonic filter capacitor bank.

In addition to increased harmonic voltage stresses, the fundamental frequency component will also be increased according to the equation for $V_C(1)$ as shown in Item c)1 in 6.3.1. Other issues, including reactive power (kilovars) and current, as presented in this guide, must also be considered.

Usually the existing capacitor banks cannot be used in a harmonic filter unless the capacitor units were overrated in the original installation.

5. Low-voltage shunt harmonic filters

This clause applies to harmonic filters installed at bus voltages up to and including 1 kV. The components, protection, and general design of low-voltage harmonic filters are discussed. The clause concludes with an application design example of multiple harmonic filters installed at a water treatment facility. Applicable codes and standards are mentioned where appropriate.

5.1 Introduction

Application of harmonic filters at low voltage is required when any of the following conditions exists:

- a) Harmonic voltages appearing across the low-voltage distribution system result in voltage distortion at a point of utilization that is incompatible with connected loads.
- b) Harmonic currents exceed specified limits.
- c) Harmonic currents exceed the thermal capability of distribution equipment.
- d) Power factor correction at the low-voltage bus is desired in a harmonic-rich environment.

Like conventional shunt capacitors, which are not a part of a harmonic filter, passive harmonic filters improve power factor ahead of the point of connection and thereby reduce the fundamental current, release capacity in the distribution system, and reduce losses. Unlike conventional shunt capacitors, which are not a part of a filter and can create an undesirable resonance and thus amplify harmonic currents, harmonic filters control the resonant frequencies and shunt harmonic currents out of the system and thereby further reduce losses and improve voltage quality.

Both fundamental and harmonic components must be considered in selecting equipment ratings. Capacitors and reactors should not operate above their nameplate ratings under normal conditions. Overload capabilities should be reserved for contingency operation only. A harmonic filter should be adequately protected so that a severe overload condition does not result in equipment damage.

Harmonic filters may be installed at the load or an upstream bus. They may be fixed or switched. Harmonic filters are typically single-tuned, series LC devices where the absorption spectrum will include more than one harmonic. For example, a 5th harmonic filter may also absorb significant quantities of the 7th harmonic. However, the application requirements may dictate the use of multiple-tuned harmonic filters and/or high-pass sections.

5.2 Technical specifications

General requirements for harmonic filter components and construction are give in 5.2.1 through 5.2.10.

5.2.1 Harmonic filter capacitors

Capacitors are generally rated for the system line-to-line voltage (e.g., 240 V, 480 V). However, in a harmonic filter application, they should be selected to withstand overvoltages and overcurrents caused by fundamental and harmonic current flow through the series connected tuning.

IEEE Std 18-2002 requires shunt capacitors, under contingency conditions, to withstand continuous voltages up to 110% of rated rms voltage and continuous currents up to 135% of nominal rms current based on rated kvar and rated voltage. When applied in harmonic filters, the normal voltage and current may exceed these levels even before system contingencies are considered. Consequently, capacitors selected for use in normal shunt capacitor applications may not be suitable for use in harmonic filters. Harmonic filter capacitors should be selected based on their expected duty under normal and contingency conditions. The capacitor manufacturer should be consulted when specifying capacitors for harmonic filter applications.

Capacitors should be manufactured in accordance with UL 810-1995. Capacitors should be protected by a UL-listed/recognized protective device. For capacitors that do not contain a UL-listed/recognized protective device, the capacitors should be protected with external current limiting fuses or other external protective devices that are UL-listed. Capacitor cells connected with a wiring harness may also be protected with UL-listed current limiting fuses (even if they have internal pressure sensitive interrupters) to protect in the event of a failure of external resistors, bushings, or connecting wires.

IEEE Std 18-2002¹⁵ specifies that the terminal-to-case test for the internal insulation of indoor capacitors should be performed at 3 kV rms (capacitors rated 300 V or less) or 5 kV rms (capacitors rated 301 V to 1199 V) for 10 s. The terminal-to-terminal test should be 10 s at $2 \times$ rated rms voltage (ac test) or $4.3 \times$ rated rms voltage (dc test).

Each capacitor rated 600 V or less must be provided with a discharge resistor(s) to reduce the residual voltage from peak of rated to less than 50 V within 1 min of de-energization (5 min for capacitor units rated higher than 600 V) to meet the requirements of IEEE Std 18-2002 and Article 460-6 of NFPA 70-2002 (National Electrical Code®).

5.2.2 Harmonic filter reactors

5.2.2.1 General construction

Harmonic filter reactors for low-voltage applications are typically dry-type iron-core. No existing standard addresses harmonic filter reactors, but most manufacturers use IEEE Std C57.12.01-1998 as a guideline.

Cores are constructed from silicon sheet steel (such as M-6). The number 6 corresponds to the approximate power loss per pound of steel at a magnetic flux density of 1.5 T, i.e., M-6 has a loss of "0.6 W/lb" or 1.5 W/kg. M-6 is the typical grade of silicon steel used, but both lower and higher grades of steel are available. A manufacturer may choose to use a lower grade steel and either let the harmonic filter reactor operate with a higher temperature rise or use more steel. Conversely, a higher grade of steel can be used and either the harmonic filter reactor could be made smaller.

¹⁵This information is from the referenced standard(s) and does not transplant these limits to this guide. See the first paragraph of Clause 2.

The construction may be from individual pieces of cut strip stock or E-I laminations. To create a harmonic filter reactor, it is necessary to have gaps in the core. These gaps are known as *air gaps*, but for physical integrity and rigidity the gaps are filled with hard insulation. This insulation will have permeability similar to air. These gaps can be distributed (many small gaps) or a single larger gap. A single gap will use E-I laminations whereas a distributed gap will be made up of individual cut strips. The E-I construction requires less labor and can be clamped and wedged better than a distributed gap core. However, the distributed gap core will significantly reduce fringing. This reduction in fringing helps control the effective cross-sectional area as well as stray fields that may result in localized heating of the coil. A "C" core may be used, but it will not offer an advantage for harmonic filtering.

Reactor coils may be constructed from sheet conductor or magnet wire. Sheet conductor may be more economical and easier for construction, but reactors with significant harmonic currents can incur heating problems. If not properly designed, sheet copper windings can become annealed due to large localized current densities. Sheet conductor windings should be used only on harmonic filter reactors that have a distributed gap well within the boundaries of the coil. Magnet wire, which is less susceptible to localized heating, is commonly used for harmonic filter reactors. In some cases, it may be desirable to have parallel strands of smaller gauge magnet wire to reduce heating. Although using parallel strands of such wire significantly complicates winding construction, the increase in winding complexity can be justified because coil losses may be significantly reduced.

Clamping is also very important. If a reactor is not properly clamped, the harmonic current can cause laminations to vibrate. Lack of proper clamping could result in a loud audible noise and the breakdown of the insulation coating on the laminations. Laminations are clamped with insulated through-bolts, or bolts that go through clamps, and are external to the laminations. Clamps that bridge air gaps must be of nonferrous construction. Such nonmagnetic clamps are used to avoid shunting the air gap with a magnetic path. Furthermore, ferrous components need to be as far from air gaps as possible to prevent inductive heating of the ferrous material. Coils are held in place with spacers and wedges. The harmonic filter reactor should be vacuum impregnated, preferably vacuum-pressure impregnated with a suitable varnish. Impregnation, however, should not be relied upon as the only mechanical means of support.

5.2.2.2 Properties

The loss calculation should consider the total rms current, including both the fundamental and harmonic currents, which flow through the harmonic filter reactor and harmonic filter capacitor combination. Harmonic filter reactor losses consist of

- Coil loss
- Core loss
- Gap loss

The current should be given as a harmonic spectrum so the manufacturer can calculate losses for each frequency. The rms current is calculated as the geometric sum of the fundamental and all harmonics. Coil power losses should be determined at the expected operating temperature.

The total coil loss is calculated as shown in Equation (7):

$$P_c = \sum \left[I(h)^2 R_{\rm ac}(h) + P_{\rm eddy}(h) + P_{\rm stray}(h) \right]$$
(7)

where

| I(h) | is the current at the h^{th} harmonic (A rms), |
|------------------------------|--|
| h | is the harmonic number $h = 1, 2,,$ |
| $P_{\rm eddy}\left(h\right)$ | is the eddy current loss at the h^{th} harmonic and at the rated operating temperature (W), |
| P _c | is the total coil loss at the rated operating temperature (W), |

 $P_{\text{stray}}(h)$ is the loss at the h^{th} harmonic and the rated operating temperature (W),

 $R_{\rm ac}(h)$ is the conductor resistance at the $h^{\rm th}$ harmonic and the rated operating temperature (Ω).

Core and gap power losses are greatly influenced by harmonic current frequencies and their amplitudes. The core and gap losses should be determined at the fundamental frequency and at each of the harmonic frequencies. The losses at each frequency should be numerically added to determine the total loss. The total core power loss should be less than 40% of the coil power loss. Gap power losses are also a function of the harmonic frequencies and their amplitudes. The gap loss should be determined at the fundamental frequency and at each of the harmonic frequencies. These losses should be numerically added to determine total gap power loss. The total gap power loss. The total gap power loss should be less than 20% of the coil loss.

Saturation is not typically a problem with low-voltage harmonic filter reactors.

The dc resistance of the harmonic filter reactor should be determined at 25 °C.

Inductance is determined by the number of turns, the core cross-sectional area, and the width of the air gap.

Using finite element analysis, the design can be optimized adjusting all these factors until the desired inductance, losses, and temperature rise are obtained. Once the harmonic filter reactor has been built, fine-tuning is typically done by adjusting the air gap. When the gap is adjusted on a three-phase harmonic filter reactor, it changes for all three phases. However, with a three-phase harmonic filter reactor, the fringing characteristics that will affect the flux density and inductance of each phase are different for the center leg from what they are for the outer legs. Such differences create a challenge because all three gaps should be the same for a three-phase core. Fringing effects are less significant with a distributed air gap. With single-phase harmonic filter reactors, each phase may be individually tuned and adjusted.

5.2.2.3 Testing

To assure proper tuning, inductance should be measured at rated current. Inductance of harmonic filter reactors should not be measured on an instrumentation bridge. Harmonic filter reactors are not field adjustable.

For low-voltage applications, harmonic filter reactors do not typically undergo a basic impulse insulation level (BIL) test. As a minimum, the insulation should have a low-frequency voltage test (Hi-Pot), phase-to-phase (three-phase harmonic filter reactors) and phase-to-ground. This test is typically on the order of 10 times the rms voltage rating. IEEE Std C57.12.01-1998¹⁶ suggests a test voltage of 4 kV rms on 480 V systems. If a similar field test is to be performed, consult with the harmonic filter manufacturer on the values to expect and the procedure to be used.

5.2.2.4 Protection

The primary cause of harmonic filter reactor failure is over-heating of the insulation system. Iron core harmonic filter reactors typically have a 180 °C to 220 °C rated insulation system. Normal overcurrent protection is inadequate to properly protect the harmonic filter from overload. At least one phase of a harmonic filter section should have a thermal cutout or thermistor imbedded near the hot spot, which will disconnect the harmonic filter section when the hot spot temperature approaches 180 °C. The temperature of the hot spot is higher than any other location in the harmonic filter reactor winding.

5.2.3 Capacitor and reactor tolerances

Both harmonic filter reactors and harmonic filter capacitors have tolerances. However, when constructing a harmonic filter, the combination of these tolerances is more significant than individual tolerances.

¹⁶This information is from the referenced standard(s) and does not transplant these limits to this guide.

Capacitor tolerances typically permit capacitance to exceed the nominal value. Capacitor units built according to IEEE Std 18-2002 since 2002 have a manufacturing tolerance of -0% to +10% at 25 °C uniform case and internal temperature. Older capacitors may have tolerances as high as -0% to +15% for the capacitance of individual units. Because capacitors are mass-produced, the filter manufacturer typically has very little control on the capacitor value.

No standard presently exists for harmonic filter reactors, although IEEE Std C57.16-1996 is often referenced.

An example of the effect of tolerances is shown in Equation (8).

$$f_{\text{tuned}} = f_{\text{nominal}} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{(1+t_{\text{r}})(1+t_{\text{c}})}} \right)$$
(8)

where

For a filter that has been specified for 4.7^{th} harmonic tuning, the tuning point ranges have been calculated using Equation (8). In both cases the capacitor tolerance used are -0%/+15% with an expected value of +8% from nominal. The inductance range example shows a $\pm 2.5\%$ tolerance with the target inductance at nominal. This calculation results in a filter tuning range from the 4.33^{rd} to the 4.76^{th} and an expected value near the 4.52^{nd} . A second example shows a -0%/+10% tolerance with the targeted inductance to be at 5% above nominal. This calculation results in a tuning range from the 4.38^{th} to the 4.95^{th} and an expected value near the 4.64^{th} harmonic. These results show the need to be aware of component tolerances.

Another concern in low-voltage applications is the feeder inductance from the filter unit to where it is connected to the power system. The inductance of reactors for these systems will be on the order of hundreds of microhenries. It is not unusual for long cable inductance to be at least a few microhenries. This inductance can significantly affect the tuned frequency of the filter. When determining what frequency a harmonic filter needs to be tuned for, do not forget to allow for inductance of the feeder cable.

Because the manufacturer has more control over the reactor tolerance than the capacitor tolerance, it is recommended that a range of acceptable tuning points for the assembly be provided (i.e., 4.33 to 4.76) instead of tolerances for individual components.

5.2.4 Contactors

Contactors are often incorporated into a harmonic filter assembly to enable it to be switched on and off with the filtered load, or as load levels vary in the case of a bus mounted filter. Contactors should be either IEC or NEMA rated, and UL-listed or CSA-certified. The contactor should be rated, considering both system normal and contingency conditions, for the following:

- a) Maximum system voltage
- b) Maximum continuous current (fundamental current and all harmonic currents)
- c) Number of switching operations (Frequent switching suggests a more conservative approach to sizing contactors than the normal current criteria would dictate. Note that the inrush current experienced when capacitors are switched is limited by the series tuning reactor. Therefore, the contactors can be sized using the manufacturer's inductive switching rating.)
- d) Capacitor switching duty

5.2.5 Fuses

Each phase of each filter step should be protected by fuses. Fuses should be current limiting, rated for the available fault current at the fuse location. Fuses should be UL-listed Class J or T, CSA-rated HRC-1, or equivalent. The current rating of the fuses should be a minimum of two times the capacitor current calculated from its rated reactive power and its rated voltage. The voltage rating of the fuses should be greater than or equal to the system voltage. Fuses internal to the capacitor should not be accepted as the primary means of filter protection. In a harmonic filter assembly containing more than one capacitor per reactor, a single set of fuses, one per phase, should be provided. The current rating of the fuses should be at least equal the total filter current including all harmonics, with margin (typically 35%) to cover contingency conditions.

Fuses should be located after the harmonic filter main lugs or main disconnect and before the contactor/ reactor/capacitor assemblies.

In addition to fusing, some harmonic filters may be protected by devices that detect phase loss or thermal overload and trip the step/unit off line. Such devices are not meant to replace fuses.

The fuses should be rated for the following conditions:

- a) Maximum system voltage
- b) Maximum continuous filter current, including fundamental and harmonics
- c) Interrupting rating, equal to or greater than the available short-circuit current at the fuse location
- d) Sized to limit the fault current to a level consistent with the capabilities of the harmonic filter components
- e) Sized to withstand inrush currents when the harmonic filter is energized

5.2.6 Circuit breakers

Circuit breakers may be used in place of fuses to provide the primary means of overcurrent protection (i.e., thermal/magnetic trip). Alternately, circuit breakers or molded case switches may serve in addition to fuses to provide a primary means of disconnect (i.e., manual switch) or to provide overload (i.e., thermal trip) and/ or short-circuit (i.e., magnetic trip) protection for the complete harmonic filter.

Circuit breakers should be rated for the following conditions:

- a) Maximum system voltage
- b) The harmonic filter current spectrum, including the fundamental and harmonics (Note that this current spectrum should be determined based on the maximum system operating voltage and maximum positive capacitor tolerance. The heating of the circuit breaker may be greater at higher frequencies than at the fundamental frequency because of eddy currents and the skin effect. It is not sufficient to specify only the rms value of the circuit breaker current.)
- c) Interrupting rating, equal to or greater than the available short-circuit current at the harmonic filter
- d) Sized to limit the fault current to a level consistent with the capabilities of the harmonic filter components.
- e) Sized to have sufficient short-time current rating to withstand inrush currents when the harmonic filter is energized
- f) The number and the frequency of switching operations

5.2.7 Connections

UL 508-1999 and UL 508A-2001 should be followed in the design and construction of harmonic filter banks. The harmonic filter should be electrically connected to the three-phase bus through mechanical lugs or compression lugs. All code requirements regarding internal grounding of the enclosure must be followed.

It is important that mechanical connections to the electrical elements of the harmonic filter exhibit low electrical resistance and be mechanically secure. All distribution blocks, lugs, and terminal strips should utilize threaded studs with lock nuts or screw compression type connections. Terminal lugs used on wires should be pressure crimped to the wires. Locking spade or ring terminal lugs are recommended for current-carrying conductors.

Power conductors should use insulation rated 90 °C or higher. Control and signal wire should be 600 V, 90 °C rated, or multiple conductor double jacketed with 300 V 80 °C insulation (see UL 508-1999 and UL 508A-2001).

5.2.8 High-pass harmonic filter resistor assemblies

Resistors are generally not required in single-tuned low-voltage harmonic filters. Typically, the value of the resistance in the filter consists primarily of the resistance in the inductor. The low resistance value enhances the harmonic filter's effectiveness, while simultaneously minimizing power losses.

Resistor assemblies are required in high-pass harmonic filters. A high-pass harmonic filter has low impedance at frequencies higher than the tuned frequency. (It "passes" these higher frequencies.) The resistor in this type of harmonic filter creates a low impedance at the rated frequency and nearly constant impedance at higher frequencies. This type of harmonic filter has been effectively used to attenuate commutation notches and is sometimes applied in lieu of or in combination with single-tuned filters (see Ludbrook [B4]).

5.2.9 Enclosure and general construction

The enclosure should be NEMA rated, suitable for the intended environment. Where applicable, screened or louvered openings should be provided for ventilation. Harmonic filter reactors add substantially to the heat generated inside the filter enclosure. Because the longevity of a capacitor is temperature critical, special attention should be given to the ambient environment and cooling requirements for harmonic filter capacitor banks. Systems are typically designed for a maximum ambient temperature of 40 °C.

Cooling may be provided by convection or fan forced as necessary to maintain the harmonic filter components below their rated operating temperatures. Extremely hot environments may require auxiliary cooling. Thermostatically controlled heaters should be provided to maintain proper component operating temperature in cold climates and to prevent the formation of condensation on the components. An enclosure that is equipped with air filters should be maintained regularly to ensure proper airflow.

5.2.10 Integrated harmonic filter assembly

Harmonic filter equipment may be integrated as part of a freestanding switchboard or switchgear assembly. Components typically include iron core reactors, power capacitors, contactors, fuses, controller, and bus. Main switchgear generally consists of molded case or power circuit breakers, relays, meters, controls, and bus. The harmonic filter assembly may also be added to existing switchgear equipment.

5.3 General design considerations

Several factors influence the design and location of a harmonic filter. The primary motivation is the removal of harmonic currents produced by specific nonlinear loads, or power factor correction and harmonic attenuation of dispersed loads within the plant. Equipment that is overheating or malfunctioning will also be a factor in deciding where to locate a harmonic filter. Refer to Wagner [B7] for more information regarding the effects of harmonics. IEEE Std 519-1992 and utility requirements should provide a basis for performance criteria.

5.3.1 Selecting the point of connection

Low-voltage harmonic filters may be connected at an individual load or to a distribution bus. Both locations have advantages and disadvantages, which must be weighed with the application objectives to select the most appropriate point of connection for a particular installation. In general, load-connected harmonic filters are more effective at mitigating harmonics while bus-connected harmonic filters are typically a better choice to improve the overall plant power factor. Both options provide reactive compensation, mitigate harmonics, and are subject to overload.

5.3.1.1 Harmonic filter at an individual load

Points B and Points C in Figure 4 illustrate load-connected harmonic filters. This approach can be cost effective when the original equipment manufacturer supplies the harmonic filter as an integral part of supplied equipment or when a few loads require harmonic filtering. The installation and maintenance costs can become prohibitive if a large number of harmonic filters are to be retrofitted to an existing installation. A load-connected harmonic filter provides reactive and harmonic compensation at the source, offering the following advantages:

- a) The need to oversize distribution equipment is eliminated.
- b) System losses are minimized.
- c) Voltage distortion at the point of utilization is minimized.
- d) The harmonic filter can be sized specifically for the load.
- e) The harmonic filter can be switched on and off with the load.



Figure 4—Selecting the point of connection

When properly applied, a harmonic filter at the load will remove more harmonic current for a given design than will a harmonic filter at the bus. The reason is that the effectiveness of the harmonic filter depends on the current division between the harmonic filter and system. To prevent overloading from other harmonic sources, a load-connected harmonic filter should always be installed on the load side of an isolation transformer or line reactor. The reactive impedance of the transformer or line reactor should be about 5% of the drive's base impedance. This practice substantially increases the driving point impedance at the load and thereby causes more of the harmonic current to flow into the harmonic filter. The isolating impedance will greatly reduce, but not eliminate, the tendency of a filter to draw harmonics from other sources as illustrated in Figure 5.



Figure 5—Harmonic current flow

The closer the harmonic filter is tuned to the frequency of a harmonic and the smaller the inductance of the isolating impedance, the greater will be the percentage of that harmonic current from other sources through the harmonic filter. Referring again to Figure 5, the operation of the 300 kW (400 hp) variable-frequency drive (VFD) without its harmonic filter may cause the 5th harmonic filter on the 560 kW (750 hp) dc drive to become overloaded. If detailed site information is available, contingency analysis should be performed to establish anticipated harmonic filter duty.

To the extent practical, safety margins should be included in the harmonic filter design to account for additional harmonic loading. Some installations may require the load be interlocked with its harmonic filter so that the load cannot operate unless the harmonic filter is energized.

Another concern involves the application of multiple single-tuned harmonic filters. The loss of a harmonic filter tuned to a lower harmonic will likely cause another to become severely overloaded. For example, if the 5th harmonic filter is out of service while the 7th harmonic filter is energized for the 560 kW (750 hp) dc drive in Figure 5, a parallel resonance near the 5th harmonic may occur and expose the 7th harmonic filter to amplified levels of 5th harmonic current. In addition, series resonance with the 300 kW (400 hp) VFD could

expose the 7th harmonic filter to even higher levels of 5th harmonic current. Such a condition reinforces the need for thermal overload protection for the harmonic filter.

5.3.1.2 Harmonic filter at a distribution bus

For certain applications, the most cost-effective solution for poor power factor, excessive voltage distortion, and IEEE Std 519-1992 violations is to install one or more larger harmonic filters at a distribution bus or busses as indicated by "A" in Figure 4. Generally, an automatic harmonic filter bank will be installed on the secondary of each main transformer in the plant requiring power factor and harmonic compensation. Placement of multiple banks on a common low-voltage system can create problems by changing network harmonic flows and thereby increase the potential for overloading some of the filter banks. Therefore, this practice is not generally recommended. Where power factor correction is most important, systems tuned to the 4.2nd harmonic or below can generally be safely applied in this manner. Parallel resonance at the 3rd harmonic must be carefully evaluated.

Caution must be exercised when a harmonic filter is electrically close to the main and is tuned to the 4.7^{th} harmonic or higher. In this case, the potential exists to absorb large amounts of harmonic current from the utility distribution system. Harmonic filters should be designed assuming the distribution system will have up to 3% voltage distortion at the harmonic nearest the tuning frequency per IEEE Std 519-1992. If the harmonic filter reactors are not equipped with taps, as is common with low-voltage filters, a good practice is to over-specify the thermal rating so that additional capacitance may be added to detune the filter in the event a harmonic overload occurs.

If altering the tuning results in unacceptable filtering of in-plant harmonics, the utility can generally help to identify methods for reducing the available harmonic current. Possible utility-side solutions include the following:

- Changing the size or status of capacitor banks to alter the impedance characteristics of the system
- Enforcing IEEE Std 519-1992 limits on customers with excessive harmonic injection
- Circuit reconfiguration to isolate harmonic injectors
- Medium-voltage harmonic filters

During lightly loaded conditions, harmonic filters that are fixed on the bus can produce an overvoltage condition. The maximum per-unit voltage rise caused by the harmonic filter can be estimated as approximately equal to the harmonic filter power system frequency current (i.e., fundamental current) divided by the system three-phase short-circuit current at the harmonic filter location (see IEEE Std 1036-1992). If overvoltage is a concern, an automatically switched harmonic filter should be considered.

Switched harmonic filter(s) comprise a number of steps, each of which is an individually tuned harmonic filter. Reactive current controllers (sometimes referred to as var controllers) that can switch steps in and out automatically as system reactive current (i.e., power factor) changes are readily available. Other switching alternatives include the use of current relays, time-of-day controllers, voltage controllers, or other sensing devices. Switching times become more important as the harmonic filter is tuned closer to its rated frequency. Temporary duties should be evaluated with automatic harmonic filters to ensure steps do not overload before enough compensation is added. Steps should typically be switched in at 10 s to 15 s intervals. If the controller has the capability, the step removal interval should be greater than 1 min to avoid unnecessary "seeking" or "hunting" by the controller. Note that some controllers include algorithms to avoid "seeking" or "hunting."

5.3.1.3 Combined load/bus approach

When harmonic sources constitute only part of a plant system load, harmonic filters connected at individual loads may leave the power factor at the bus lower than desired. A combination of the two methods leads to an acceptable result. Appropriate load-connected harmonic filters are selected for individual

harmonic-producing loads, and the remaining reactive power (kilovars) needed to achieve the desired power factor is added to the main as a detuned harmonic filter. (A "detuned" harmonic filter is a filter tuned to a frequency so that it will never become tuned with the source impedance at a frequency where there are significant harmonics. These filters are usually tuned below the 5th harmonic, e.g., at the 4.7th or 4.3rd harmonic.)

Rarely can capacitors, which are not a part of a harmonic filter, be installed in the plant to supply the deficit capacitive reactive power. Because only the lower harmonics are typically filtered, capacitors that are not a part of a filter may create an objectionable resonance at a higher harmonic frequency. Connecting capacitors at individual motors is particularly risky because predicting all of the possible system conditions is practically impossible. IEEE Std 141-1993 (*IEEE Red Book*) addresses in detail this concern and others related to connecting capacitors at motor terminals.

5.3.2 Component selection

This subclause provides guidance in selecting harmonic filter capacitors and harmonic filter reactors to achieve the desired performance. For reliability, these and other harmonic filter components should be selected according to the specifications of 5.2. In harmonic filter design, the capacitors are chosen first based on the required reactive power. The inductance of the harmonic filter reactor is then chosen to create the desired tuning. In practice, the selection of harmonic filter components may require several iterations because filter capacitors are typically voltage rated 10% to 25% higher than the system voltage for which they are designed, and the harmonic filter reactor absorbs some reactive power while raising the voltage across the capacitor. Both factors can significantly alter the actual reactive compensation produced from the value stated on the capacitor nameplate. After this initial component selection, computer simulation should be employed to evaluate the ability of the design to achieve the desired harmonic attenuation and verify the adequacy of component thermal and dielectric ratings.

5.3.2.1 Harmonic filter capacitor selection, method 1

This method of sizing the capacitors is more common because it is based on actual measured or predicted operating data. Like sizing capacitors for a normal shunt capacitor application, the displacement power factor is obtained from utility billing data, in-plant power monitoring systems, or temporary monitoring with portable power monitors. For a new system, the power factor must be calculated based on the expected operating characteristics of the load(s). The capacitive reactive power that is required from the harmonic filter to reach the desired power factor is calculated. Standard power factor correction capacitor tables may be used if desired.

5.3.2.2 Harmonic filter capacitor selection, method 2

When sizing harmonic filters for a converter, or group of converters, with a thyristor [e.g., a silicon controller rectifier (SCR)] bridge front end, the following method for capacitor selection can be used if the converter power factor is unknown. The capacitive reactive power in kilovars required to improve power factor to 0.90–0.95 is approximately 40% of the apparent power of the load in kilovolt-amperes. This relationship is valid only if the load power varies proportionally with dc voltage. Larger uninterruptible power supply (UPS) systems often contain a thyristor front end and are an example of a load for which the power can vary significantly without a change in the dc voltage. Such systems can incur high voltage at periods of light load (see 5.3.1.2) if the harmonic filter is sized based on this method.

If other than converter load is present, the system power factor may be less than optimal when applying this method. It is based on the observation that reactive and harmonic compensation for a thyristor rectifier is proportional to the size of the connected load. Empirical data, simulation, and extensive field testing have verified this method. Shunt passive harmonic filters are not recommended for loads with a diode bridge front end such as a pulse-width modulation (PWM) type of variable frequency drive. Such loads exhibit near unity power factor throughout their operating range. The amount of capacitance that would be required for

effective harmonic filtering will create a potential for high voltage at lower load levels. The magnitude of the voltage and possible adverse system impacts need to be reviewed. Alternate mitigating technologies such as line reactors, multiple pulse configurations, passive broadband harmonic filters, and active harmonic filters may be more appropriate. IEEE P519.1/D8b provides additional information on these alternatives.

5.3.2.3 Harmonic filter reactor selection

After the capacitance is chosen, the reactor inductance is selected to tune the harmonic filter to the desired frequency according to

$$f_{\text{tuned}} = \frac{1}{2\pi\sqrt{LC}} \tag{9}$$

$$h_{\text{tuned}} = \frac{f_{\text{tuned}}}{(\text{power system frequency})} = \frac{1}{2\pi(\text{power system frequency})\sqrt{LC}}$$
(10)

where

 f_{tuned} is the tuned frequency of the harmonic filter (Hz),

 h_{tuned} is the harmonic to which the harmonic filter is tuned,

- *L* is the inductance in the harmonic filter circuit (H),
- *C* is the capacitance in the harmonic filter circuit (F).

Low-voltage harmonic filters are often tuned below the nominal frequency; e.g., a 5th harmonic filter may be tuned to the 4.7th harmonic. The reasons for this practice include the following:

- a) Capacitors with metalized film construction lose capacitance as they age, resulting in a gradual increase in tuning frequency when used in harmonic filters. Using capacitor manufacturers' aging tables, a harmonic filter tuned at 6% below its rated frequency will still exhibit acceptable tuning at the end of its 20 yr life. (Nonmetalized electrode capacitors have fairly stable capacitance. Refer to the manufacturers' aging tables.)
- b) Tuning a harmonic filter more sharply than required to attain the desired performance unnecessarily stresses the components and generally makes the harmonic filter more prone to overload from other harmonic sources.
- c) The manufacturing tolerance of the harmonic filter reactor may result in a tuning frequency higher than nominal.
- d) Operation of capacitor fuses on failed capacitor units or elements will result in an increase in tuning frequency.

In some cases where displacement power factor improvement is desired and harmonic removal is secondary, capacitors are tuned 12% or more below their nominal frequency. (The "nominal frequency" is the integer multiple of the fundamental frequency that the filter is primarily intended to remove. When tuned in this fashion, the resultant device is protected against harmonic overload. Such designs can be safely used with harmonic generating loads, but may not absorb enough harmonic current to enable compliance with specified harmonic limits.

5.3.2.4 Computer analysis

As with any design activity, some form of simulation is necessary to verify a device will operate as intended. In order to produce an optimized harmonic filter design, it is essential to develop an accurate mathematical model to describe the harmonic behavior of the system.

The following data are typically incorporated into the model:

- a) Fundamental and individual harmonic current magnitudes and phase angles for the relevant nonlinear loads
- b) Source impedance data
- c) Feeder impedance (reactance and resistance)
- d) Transformer impedance characteristics, size, and winding configuration
- e) Size and location of all capacitor banks on the system being modeled (Note that usually this information is limited to capacitors within the plant, although capacitors on the utility system and neighboring facilities can have an impact and should be included if enough information is available.)
- f) Harmonic current spectrum of all nonlinear loads
- g) Subtransient reactance of all rotating machines on the system being modeled

Field data collection; site monitoring; utility/energy company billing data; system short-circuit capability; drive size and type; motor size; UPS; battery; rectifier; furnace; lighting; telcom/data systems; generators; heating, ventilation, and air conditioning (HVAC); and cable/bus data, along with a single line of the power distribution system, should be reviewed prior to analysis input.

If information about the site is not available in sufficient detail to create a suitable model, conservative assumptions should be made. Additional information regarding harmonic modeling and simulation can be found in IEEE Std 519-1992, IEEE Std 399-1997, and IEEE Catalog Number: 98TP125-0 [B2].

5.4 Case study

A large wastewater treatment plant was undergoing a major capacity expansion. Part of this expansion included the addition of six 150 kW (200 hp) dc adjustable-speed drives and three 225 kW (300 hp) dc drives. Concerns about low power factor and high harmonic voltage distortion resulted in a requirement for harmonic filtering for the new drives.

The facility, shown in outline in Figure 6, was supplied power through two pairs of parallel 1500 kVA transformers, each pair with a separate utility feeder.

Two harmonic filter design schemes were considered. Placement of a large automatically switched harmonic filter bank on each main feeder was first considered. With numerous possible combinations of transformer and generator feed and possible load transfer between buses, it was felt that this design would result in unnecessary control complexities. The final design placed a fixed filter at each of the new drives, with contactors and controls to switch on and off with the drive. The harmonic filters were connected to the drives on the load side of the integrated line reactors.

Harmonic filters were sized using the alternate method for selecting capacitors. Eighty kvar harmonic filters were installed on each 150 kW (200 hp) drive, and 120 kvar filters were installed on each 225 kW (300 hp) drive. Harmonic filters were connected through built-in circuit breakers and protected from overheating with overtemperature sensors in the harmonic filter reactors.

Table 1 contains selected data from preliminary testing upon installation of a 120 kvar harmonic filter on a 225 kW (300 hp) drive. Note that the drive was not operating under the same load for the two measurement conditions.



Figure 6—Water treatment facility renovation

| Table 1- | –Water | treatment | plant |
|----------|--------|-----------|-------|
|----------|--------|-----------|-------|

| | RSS current (A rms) | 60 Hz current (A rms) | Displacement power factor | True power factor | |
|----------------------|------------------------|--------------------------|------------------------------|----------------------|--|
| Drive without filter | 177 | 168 | 0.28 | 0.26 | |
| Drive with filter | 139 | 118 | 0.82 | 0.70 | |

6. Medium- and high-voltage harmonic filters

This clause applies to harmonic filters installed at bus voltages above 1 kV. Harmonic filters are exposed to many of the same duties to which normal capacitor banks are exposed. The stresses are usually intensified, however, in a harmonic filter. This clause will briefly review the major considerations, describe their effect on the capacitor and other components, present requirements for properly specifying and operating the components, and conclude with an example of how to specify a single-tuned harmonic filter.

6.1 Introduction

The performance of the components that make up a harmonic filter bank is related to the operating temperatures of the various components and to the voltage stress levels, especially on the capacitor dielectric. Excessive operating temperatures can lead to dielectric damage, corrosion of parts exposed to air, annealing of connections, etc. Overheated fuses may eventually fail with either nuisance operation or malfunction. For large conductors, eddy current heating causes an apparent rise in resistance at higher harmonics, thus increasing the operating temperature on these conductors. Excessive voltages can cause dielectric breakdown, corona damage, etc. Corona at harmonic frequencies is more intense and damaging than at the normal power frequency. Specifications provided to the equipment manufacturer must state the operating conditions in such a way that temperatures can be predicted in the various components and that the dielectric stress and corona performance can be adequately predicted for design purposes. The performance specifications need to account for normal continuous operation, background harmonics (from other harmonic generators in the vicinity), temporary harmonic overloads, regular energizing transients, various contingencies as they occur (e.g., transformer energization, system faults, reclosing), and an estimate of future increases in harmonic loading from the addition of harmonic-generating loads in the vicinity.

Rather than specify the total rms current, it is much more appropriate to specify the harmonic current spectrum from which the total heating and dielectric stress can be calculated. For example, a certain leg of the filter may have an I_1 fundamental, I_2 of the 2nd harmonic, I_3 of the 3rd harmonic, I_5 of the 5th harmonic, etc. Dielectric stresses in capacitors can be determined by calculating the capacitor voltage at each harmonic. By summing the voltages, the worst-case peak voltage and dielectric stress can be calculated. Heating in harmonic filter reactors, resistors, fuses, etc., are also calculated for each frequency and summed for the total effect. Similar calculations are made for magnetic materials that may be used in the structure. The estimation of magnetic heating requires knowledge of the harmonic current spectrum.

Detailed specification requirements for each component of the harmonic filter and for the harmonic filter's operation are provided in 6.3.

6.2 Harmonic overload considerations

Harmonic filters are generally designed to provide fundamental frequency reactive power compensation for inductive loads and to control harmonic currents and voltages. It is usually desirable to build the harmonic filter with greater capability than is required for continuous duty of the identified harmonic loads. Other harmonics on the system will be drawn from the system and may lead to overloading. In addition, as loads are added to the power system, harmonics may increase. The additional harmonics may increase the current through the filter and cause an overloaded condition in the harmonic filter. The incremental cost of adding capacity to a harmonic filter for unanticipated harmonic absorption is much lower than the average cost of the harmonic filter. A generous margin in specifying the harmonic duty is desirable. A minimum of 10% margin above the maximum anticipated duty from all sources is suggested.

Additional harmonic loading can come from nearby transformers. System events that cause transformer saturation (e.g., transformer energizing, clearing of nearby faults) will lead to a temporary surge in the filter harmonic current. If the harmonic filter remains connected to the system during and following a fault, harmonics generated by transformer saturation may lead to short-time overloading of the harmonic filter when the system is re-energized. If a harmonic filter is not going to be removed automatically during a system outage, it is probably desirable to do a system study to determine the filter performance during this event. Similarly, nearby faults that do not cause a system outage but cause a voltage excursion may result in some transformer saturation and temporary increasing of the loading of the harmonic filter. The duty imposed on the harmonic filter by these transient conditions needs to be specified in a way that the proper components for the filter can be selected.

Unfortunately, the effect of the transients is not easily defined because of the random variation of the harmonic magnitude during the period of the transient decay. For this reason, it is frequently desirable to provide the designer with data (such as an oscillogram) from the study that gives the worst-case harmonic loading expected during this type of transient along with an identification of the magnitudes of the current by harmonic order at the beginning or worst part of the transient.

Normally the switching of a single-tuned harmonic filter does not result in any unusual duty to the capacitors or reactors over what would normally be expected in a shunt capacitor bank. However, for harmonic filters that are tuned for multiple frequencies, the transient duty on the components during routine capacitor bank switching and system faults may be magnified and should be studied.

For design purposes, it is desirable to provide the current magnitudes, by harmonic order, through each leg of the harmonic filter both continuously and, as a function of time, for the worst-case short-term overloading resulting from switching or a contingency. Resistors are sometimes used to dampen transients and reduce the short-time overloading.

6.3 Major component specifications

The major components of the harmonic filter bank generally include the capacitors, reactors, resistors (if any), protective relaying, and the main switchgear. In specifying this type of equipment, the normal ratings must be specified with the additional requirements of harmonic current spectrums and tighter tolerances on component parameters, specifically capacitance, inductance, and resistance. Harmonic currents result in higher peak voltage, increased heat generation, and higher noise generation than most other power system applications. The applicable standards are noted below for each component with additional comments related to the harmonic filter application as needed.

6.3.1 Harmonic filter capacitor assemblies

The capacitor should be designed so that operation during normal conditions should not result in voltages or reactive power that exceed 100% of the filter capacitor unit nameplate rating. IEEE Std 1036-1992 gives continuous operating limits in excess of 100% nameplate rating. However, these limits are overload capabilities and should be reserved for contingency operation only.

IEEE Std 18-2002 gives the following limits for capacitor units:

"Capacitors are intended to be operated at or below their rated voltage. Capacitors shall be capable of continuous operation under contingency system and bank conditions provided that none of the following limitations are exceeded:

- "a) 110% of rated rms voltage
- "b) 120% of rated peak voltage, i.e., peak voltage not exceeding 1.2 x (square root of two) x rated rms voltage, including harmonics, but excluding transients
- "c) 135% of nominal rms current based on rated kvar and rated voltage
- "d) 135% of rated kvar"

Some of the key information related to capacitors is summarized as follows:

- a) *Overload capabilities.* The overload capabilities given above are generally used for contingency conditions. These contingencies include system overvoltages, harmonic filter capacitor bank unbalance conditions, and other contingencies. Special consideration needs to be given to the harmonic filter tuning during harmonic filter capacitor bank unbalance conditions (refer to 6.5.4) as the fundamental and harmonic currents may increase significantly in all or in part of the harmonic filter capacitor bank.
- b) *Specification items.* Specifications for harmonic filter capacitor equipment for these applications should include the following:
 - 1) The maximum system line-to-line operating voltage
 - 2) Power system fundamental frequency
 - 3) System BIL
 - 4) Total three-phase effective power frequency capacitive reactive power (megavars) at rated voltage, and the rated voltage of the filter
 - 5) Tuned frequency(ies) of the harmonic filter
 - 6) Installation type (e.g., indoor, outdoor, metal enclosed)

- Environmental conditions [e.g., ambient temperature range, creepage requirements (industrial pollution), maximum wind velocity, ice loading, seismic requirements, altitude greater than 1800 m above sea level]
- 8) Harmonic filter capacitor bank capacitance (microfarads) and tolerance
- 9) The individual harmonic voltage peaks applied to the capacitors or individual harmonic currents through the capacitors, including the fundamental, during the various conditions in which the filter will operate (i.e., steady-state, normal, contingency)
- 10) Transient and dynamic voltage peaks for switching operations (e.g., switch restrike during harmonic filter deenergization, transformer energiziation)
- 11) The expected duty cycle or repetition rate and duration of the voltages and currents of Item 9 and Item 10.
- 12) Harmonic filter capacitor bank configuration (e.g, grounded wye, ungrounded wye, or delta)
- c) Voltage rating. The rms voltage rating, V_r , of capacitors used in harmonic filter banks is specified as the greater of Item 1, Item 2, or Item 3 as follows:
 - 1) Steady-state fundamental-frequency voltage plus the voltages due to the harmonic currents through the capacitors. Such voltage should be calculated by the arithmetic sum of the power frequency and harmonic voltages as shown in Equation (11) [or Equation (12)].

$$V_{\rm r} = \sum_{h=1}^{\infty} I(h) X_{\rm C}(h) \tag{11}$$

where

 $V_{\rm r}$ is the rms voltage rating of the capacitor,

h is the harmonic order,

I(h) is the rms current through the capacitor at the given harmonic order,

 $X_C(h)$ is the capacitive reactance at the harmonic order.

or

$$V_{\rm r} = V_{\rm C}(1) + \sum_{h=2}^{\infty} I(h) X_{\rm C}(h)$$
(12)

if fundamental current through the capacitor is not specified.

where

$$V_{\rm C}(1) = V_{\rm S} \left(\frac{h^2}{h^2 - 1} \right)$$
(13)

and where

- $V_{\rm C}(1)$ is the maximum power frequency rms voltage across the capacitor,
- $V_{\rm S}$ is the maximum system voltage across the capacitor, not including the voltage rise across the tuning reactor,
- *h* is the tuned harmonic order of single-tuned filter (i.e., 4.3rd, 4.7th, 5th, 7th, and so on).
- 2) For transient events (generally less than 1/2 cycle of the power frequency, such as capacitor bank switching, circuit breaker restrike, etc.), the voltage rating of the capacitor is calculated by Equation (14).

IEEE Std 1531-2003

$$V_{\rm r} = \frac{V_{\rm tr}}{\sqrt{2} k} \tag{14}$$

where

 $V_{\rm r}$ is the voltage rating (rms) of the capacitor,

 $V_{\rm tr}$ is the peak transient voltage,

k is the multiplier from Figure 7.

In using Figure 7 to determine the minimum acceptable capacitor voltage rating to accommodate the expected transient voltages, enter Figure 7 at the maximum number of transients of approximately the expected magnitude in a year. Go up to the curve and across to the y axis to determine the appropriate k.

IEEE Std 1036-1992 states that a capacitor unit may reasonably be expected to withstand the transient overvoltages indicated in Figure 7.



Figure 7—Transient overvoltage capability of capacitors

3) For dynamic events (generally lasting from more than a few fundamental cycles to several seconds, such as transformer energization, bus and line fault clearing, etc.), the voltage rating on the capacitor is calculated using Equation (15).

$$V_{\rm r} = \frac{V_{\rm d}}{\sqrt{2}} \tag{15}$$

where

- $V_{\rm r}$ is the voltage rating of the capacitor,
- $V_{\rm d}$ is the peak voltage across the capacitor reached during dynamic event.

For infrequent contingencies (e.g., system faults), the contingency overvoltage capability discussed in Item e) may be used to reduce the rated capacitor voltage. This figure is based on a total of 300 contingencies over the life of the installation. For resonant overvoltages occurring with some regularity in the operation of the harmonic filter, the voltage rating to endure resonant overvoltages calculated in Equation (15) is recommended.

The unit voltage ratings obtained from Equation (11) through Equation (15) may not result in typical capacitor unit ratings as shown in IEEE Std 18-2002. This result is not unusual. Manufacturers can usually supply the required voltage ratings.

Occasionally, consideration will be given to converting an existing capacitor bank to a harmonic filter capacitor bank. It is important to compare the unit ratings of the existing bank with the required ratings for a harmonic filter capacitor bank. In addition to increased harmonic voltage stresses, the fundamental component will also be increased according to Equation (13). Other issues [including reactive power (kilovars) and current] as presented in this guide must also be considered.

- d) *Capacitance tolerance*. The following capacitor parameters must be defined when designing a filter to achieve a specified tuning point:
 - Capacitance variation with temperature
 - Capacitance manufacturing tolerance

The effect of the capacitance tolerance on the performance of the harmonic filter must be evaluated. Capacitor units built according to IEEE Std 18-2002 since 2002 have a manufacturing tolerance ranging from -0% to +10% at 25 °C uniform case and internal temperature. Older capacitors may have tolerances as high as -0% to +15% for the capacitance of individual units. While this range may be acceptable for shunt capacitor banks, it may be unacceptable for some harmonic filter applications.

In harmonic filter designs, the capacitor manufacturer must select a tolerance for individual units so that the filter capacitor bank capacitance tolerance is met. The capacitance tolerance of the individual units should not exceed \pm 5% of the rated unit capacitance. A reasonable tolerance for a full capacitor assembly is 4% (\pm 2%, or -0% +4%), measured at 25 °C. Tighter capacitance tolerance may be achieved through consultation with the manufacturer.

Capacitance variation over the operating temperature range may be significant. Capacitor manufacturers can usually provide the variation of capacitance with temperature.

e) *Power frequency short-time overload capability.* As given in IEEE Std 1036-1992,¹⁷ capacitor units may reasonably be expected to have a short-time overload capability for 300 applications of power frequency overvoltage, without superimposed transients or harmonic content, of the magnitude and duration specified in the curve shown in Figure 8.

In using Figure 8, the overvoltage capability is for the capacitor unit, not the capacitor bank. Evaluation of capacitor unit overvoltage exposure should include allowance for any voltage unbalance in the capacitor bank

The time axis of Figure 8 indicates the maximum duration for a single event. Capacitor unit damage tends to escalate during an event, so that damage is happening more rapidly at the end of the event than at the beginning. Two continuous seconds at 1.73 per unit is *much* more severe than two separate events of 1 s each, with a time in between to allow for localized cooling, absorption of corona gasses, etc. The curve should not be used to estimate the effect of contingency overvoltage events exceeding the maximum time indicated by the curve.

For event times shorter than indicated by the curve, the times of the individual events can be accumulated to estimate the effect of the shorter events. Ten 1.73 per-unit events of 0.1 s each (shorter than the allowable 1 s limit of the curve) would create equal or less damage to the capacitor unit than one 1.73 per-unit event of 1 s duration.

 $^{^{17}}$ This information is from the referenced standard(s) and does not transplant these limits to this guide. See the first paragraph of Clause 2



Figure 8—Maximum contingency power frequency overvoltage of capacitor units

Capacitor units in shunt capacitor banks (not harmonic filters) may reasonably be expected to withstand, during normal service life, a combined total of 300 applications of power frequency terminalto-terminal overvoltages without superimposed transients or unusual harmonic content of the magnitudes and duration in this curve. For harmonic filters with substantial harmonic voltage across the capacitors, the equivalent terminal-to-terminal overvoltage of the capacitor is calculated by arithmetically summing the fundamental and individual harmonic rms voltages appearing across the capacitor terminals [see Equation (12)].

If this capability is needed in a particular application, it is important to be sure that the other equipment also has this short-time overload capability including the reactors, resistors, fuses, switchgear, etc.

- f) The temperature rise of the capacitor units results from dielectric heating, resistive (I^2R) , and discharge resistor losses. At harmonic frequencies, eddy current heating of the capacitor case may also contribute to heating of the capacitor dielectric. The dielectric loss is related to the operating kvar (sum of the products of voltage and current at each harmonic, including the fundamental) of the capacitor unit. The dielectric and I^2R heating losses depend upon the unit construction (e.g., foil thickness, connections, internal fuses). The discharge resistor losses are determined by the rms operating voltage and the resistance of the resistors. The manufacturer of the capacitor units should be contacted if there is any question concerning a possible undesirable temperature rise in the capacitor units.
- g) Bank configuration, whether grounded wye, ungrounded wye, or delta, does not affect performance for positive and negative sequence harmonics. Zero sequence harmonics must be controlled by a grounded bank configuration. The advantages and disadvantages of capacitor bank configuration, as described in IEEE Std 1036-1992, apply equally well to harmonic filter capacitor banks.

The 3rd harmonic is a zero-sequence harmonic during balanced conditions. However, unbalanced loads, such as an electric arc furnace, can produce both positive- and zero-sequence 3rd harmonics. The zero-sequence portion is usually controlled by transformers with delta-connected windings. The zero-sequence portion can be controlled with a grounded-wye harmonic filter capacitor bank. The positive sequence portion can be controlled using a grounded-wye, ungrounded-wye, or delta-connected harmonic filter capacitor bank.

6.3.2 Harmonic filter reactors

There is no existing ANSI or IEEE standard specifically related to harmonic filter reactors. The closest document is IEEE Std C57.16-1996. The referenced standard includes an annex that provides guidance for applying dry-type air-core filter reactors. Filter reactors generally fall into three categories:

- Dry-type, air-core reactors. Generally used in medium- and high-voltage applications.
- Dry-type, iron-core reactors. Generally used in low- and medium-voltage applications.
- Fluid-filled, iron-core reactors. Generally used in medium-voltage applications.

Some of the key information related to applying harmonic filter reactors that is different from applying other series connected reactors is summarized as follows:

- a) Specification items. Specifications for harmonic filter reactors should include the following:
 - 1) The maximum system line-to-line operating voltage
 - 2) System fundamental frequency
 - 3) System BIL
 - 4) Tuned frequency of the filter (hertz)
 - 5) Installation type (e.g., indoor, outdoor, metal enclosed)
 - 6) Environmental conditions [e.g., ambient temperature range, creepage requirements (industrial pollution), maximum wind velocity, ice loading, seismic requirements, altitude greater than 1800 m above sea level]
 - 7) Reactor inductance (millihenries) and inductance tolerance and whether taps are required
 - 8) Q at the tuned frequency, with its tolerance if critical (Note that Q is the ratio of reactance to effective series resistance, X/R)
 - 9) Maximum short-circuit current and its duration through the reactor
 - 10) The individual harmonic currents through the reactor, including the fundamental, during the various conditions in which the filter will operate (i.e., steady-state, normal, contingency)
 - 11) Transient and dynamic voltage peaks for switching operations (e.g., switch restrike during filter deenergization, transformer energization)
 - 12) The expected duty cycle or repetition rate and duration of the currents and voltages of Item 10 and Item 11.
 - 13) BIL rating across the coil and to ground (may be different)
 - 14) Preferred coil dimensions and mounting arrangements
 - 15) Audible noise limit (if applicable)
- b) *Three-phase, iron-core harmonic filter reactors.* Three-phase (common-core) iron-core harmonic filter reactors should be avoided in situations where the performance of the harmonic filter network is critical. It is very difficult to adjust the inductance of one phase without affecting the inductance of the other two phases. In addition, if the inductance of all three phases is set at the fundamental frequency, there is no guarantee that the inductance of all three phases will remain constant as the frequency is increased.
- c) Inductance, inductance tolerance, and quality factor. The inductance and the quality factor, Q, for the harmonic filter reactor should be specified at the resonant (tuned) frequency of the harmonic filter network. The tolerance on the inductance should be selected to insure the proper performance of the harmonic filter network across the range of the tolerance. Inductance tolerance is usually available as $\pm 3\%$ or +0% to -6%. The tolerance on the quality factor, Q, is typically $\pm 20\%$.

Reactor taps, if required, should also be specified. Taps are often included to provide final tuning in the field and to accommodate changes in the capacitance of the harmonic filter capacitor bank. Harmonic filter capacitor banks are frequently built with the capacity for future expansion.

- d) Harmonic current spectrum. The harmonic current spectrum should be defined for both continuous and temporary/contingency conditions. Transient conditions should also be provided in applications where the harmonic filter is exposed to frequent transients such as transformer energizing. The duty cycle or repetition rate of the transients and contingency operations should be specified. The harmonic current spectrum is required for the following reasons:
 - 1) To ensure that the core will not saturate and to determine the core and gap losses in the iron core harmonic filter reactors.
 - 2) To assist the harmonic filter reactor designer in conductor selection in order to minimize resistive, eddy and stray losses.

The current specified for the fundamental frequency should account for variations in the line voltage and the tolerance of the harmonic filter capacitance. The fundamental frequency should be clearly stated also.

e) *Voltage specifications*. The (1) fundamental and harmonic voltages, (2) minimum required BIL across the coil, and (3) minimum required BILs from coil high-voltage and low-voltage terminals to ground or core (iron-core harmonic filter reactors) must be specified.

The rated steady-state voltage is calculated as the arithmetic sum of the fundamental and the harmonics, similar to the capacitor. See Equation (16).

$$V_{\rm r} = \sum_{h=1}^{\infty} I(h) X_{\rm R}(h) \tag{16}$$

where

| $V_{\rm r}$ | is the rms voltage rating of the reactor, |
|----------------|--|
| h | is the harmonic order, |
| I(h) | is the rms current through the reactor at the given harmonic order (h) , |
| $X_{\rm R}(h)$ | is the inductive reactance at the given harmonic order. |
| | |

The required contingency voltage capability is based on the same type of calculation using the contingency current instead of the continuous current.

The coil-to-ground BIL will usually match the BIL of other equipment on the user's system. If the harmonic filter reactor is located on the neutral side of the harmonic filter capacitor bank and one terminal of the harmonic filter reactor is grounded, the BIL of the grounded terminal may be reduced.

The terminal-to-terminal BIL across the coil will usually match the system BIL whether the harmonic filter reactor is located on the source side or the neutral side of the harmonic filter capacitor bank because the bulk of the lightning surge voltage will be across the harmonic filter reactor rather than the harmonic filter capacitor. Terminal-to-terminal BIL may be reduced if a surge arrester is connected across the harmonic filter reactor terminals. The coil must then be adequately coordinated with the protective characteristics of the surge arrester (see IEEE Std C62.22-1997).

The manufacturer should be made aware of frequent switching surge duties to which the harmonic filter may be exposed. Frequent transformer switching on the same bus as the harmonic filter, for example, may result in additional dielectric stresses to the insulation.

- f) The maximum short-circuit current available to the harmonic filter reactor and the amount of time the harmonic filter reactor must withstand this current must be specified. The value will vary depending upon the location of the harmonic filter reactor within the equipment. Fault current through the harmonic filter reactor is minimized when the harmonic filter reactor is connected on the neutral side of the harmonic filter capacitor.
- g) In configuring the harmonic filter, the mounting arrangement of the reactor and physical size limitations should be specified. The following items are noted:

- 1) For medium-voltage applications, the harmonic filter is generally connected in an ungroundedwye configuration with the harmonic filter reactor located on the source side. The neutral connection is generally conveniently made within the harmonic filter capacitor equipment. The harmonic filter reactor may limit the available fault current for a fault in the harmonic filter capacitor bank if the reactor is located on the source side of the capacitor. However, iron-core reactors may not limit fault current if they saturate. Iron-core and air-core reactors located on the neutral side of the harmonic filter capacitor will not decrease the available phase-to-phase or phase-to-ground fault current level in the harmonic filter capacitor bank.
- 2) For high-voltage applications, the harmonic filter may be connected in a wye configuration with the harmonic filter reactor located on the neutral side. This filter reactor location may allow heavy harmonic filter reactors to be conveniently mounted at a lower elevation.

For grounded-wye filters (effectively grounded systems only), this filter reactor location may also allow the BIL of the reactor to be less than the BIL of the system. For this application, an appropriately rated surge arrester should be placed across the harmonic filter reactor.

3) Air-core reactors must be mounted to prevent magnetic flux from producing excessive heating in nearby ferromagnetic materials and/or affecting the harmonic filter tuning.

6.3.3 Harmonic filter resistor assemblies

The majority of passive harmonic filters are connected as high Q, single-tuned harmonic filters. Some applications require the attenuation of more than one harmonic and require additional damping. A resistor often supplies the damping.

There is no existing ANSI or IEEE standard specifically related to harmonic filter resistors. The standard that relates most to resistors in filter applications is IEEE Std 32-1972. Some of the additional considerations for use in harmonic filters are summarized:

- a) *Specification items.* The specifications for harmonic filter resistor equipment should include the following:
 - 1) The maximum system line-to-line operating voltage
 - 2) System fundamental frequency
 - 3) System BIL
 - 4) Installation type (e.g., indoor, outdoor, metal enclosed)
 - 5) Environmental conditions [e.g., ambient temperature range, creepage requirements (industrial pollution), maximum wind velocity, ice loading, seismic requirements, altitude greater than 1800 m above sea level]
 - 6) Resistance (ohms) and resistance tolerance
 - 7) Maximum allowable inductance (if low inductance is required)
 - 8) Maximum allowable resistance variation with temperature (if resistance variation with temperature is critical)
 - 9) The magnitude and duration of the maximum short-circuit current through the resistor
 - 10) The magnitude of the individual harmonic currents through the resistor, including the fundamental, during the various conditions in which the filter will operate (i.e., steady state, normal, contingency)
 - 11) Transient and dynamic voltage peaks for switching operations (e.g., switch restrike during filter deenergization, transformer energization)
 - 12) The expected duty cycle or repetition rate and duration of the currents and voltages of Item 10 and Item 11
 - 13) Energy rating of the resistor (maximum adiabatic energy capability, optional for fluctuating loads only)

- 14) Minimum required BIL across the resistor, and minimum required BILs from resistor high voltage and low voltage terminals to ground
- 15) Preferred dimensions and mounting arrangements
- b) The resistor harmonic current spectrum must be defined for continuous and temporary/contingency operation. As with the reactors, this spectrum determines the heat/losses and vibration/noise considerations. Fundamental frequency losses may be substantial in some damped harmonic filter designs.
- c) The maximum short-circuit requirement for the resistor is similar to the requirement presented for the harmonic filter reactor in 6.3.2.
- d) Some applications may require that the resistor has low series inductance.
- e) Voltage requirements are similar to the requirements presented for the harmonic filter reactor in 6.3.2.
- f) The tolerance of the resistance with regards to frequency may need to be defined to ensure the desired performance.
- g) Mounting arrangements are similar to the harmonic filter reactor. Animal proofing, such as screens or enclosures, may be needed to prevent faults.

6.3.4 Switchgear

In general, the ANSI/IEEE Std C37 series includes guides and standards for switchgear and relays. IEEE Std C37.012-1979 provides guidance on applying high-voltage circuit breakers in switching capacitor banks. ANSI C37.66-1969 provides guidance in applying oil switches for capacitor switching. In Section 460.24 of NFPA 70-2002 (National Electrical Code), there is also information on switching devices for capacitor switching. These documents generally recommend that the device be capable of switching a capacitive current and that the device be rated for at least 135% of the nominal current of the capacitor based on rated reactive power and rated voltage. With high harmonic currents in a filter, the current rating needs to be selected based on the expected continuous and contingency fundamental and harmonic currents.

Special consideration must be given to the specification of switching devices for harmonic filters. The fundamental voltage rise across the reactor results in a higher recovery voltage on the switching device than when switching a capacitor bank without tuning reactors. In addition, some switching devices may have difficulty interrupting the high harmonic currents of a harmonic filter because of the higher rates of rise and possible multiple zero crossings. The switching device manufacturer should be consulted for the application of switching harmonic filters. Refer to IEEE Std C37.04-1999, ANSI C37.06-2000, IEEE Std C37.012-1979, and ANSI C37.66-1969 for guidance with specification of these devices.

As compared with a shunt capacitor, the inrush and outrush currents are greatly reduced in a harmonic filter by the series tuning reactor. Adding a separate inrush or outrush limiting reactor would change the tuning of the filter and is not normally needed.

The specifications for switchgear used in harmonic filter applications should include the following:

- a) The maximum system line-to-line operating voltage
- b) The harmonic filter capacitor bank grounding (i.e., ungrounded, grounded, or impedance grounded). (If the bank is grounded through an impedance, state the ratings of the impedance.)
- c) The grounding of the system (i.e., effectively grounded, impedance grounded, or ungrounded). (If the system is grounded through an impedance, state the ratings of the impedance.)
- d) System fundamental frequency
- e) System BIL
- f) Installation type (e.g., indoor, outdoor, metal enclosed)

- g) Environmental conditions [e.g., ambient temperature range, creepage requirements (industrial pollution), maximum wind velocity, ice loading, seismic requirements, altitude greater than 1800 m above sea level]
- h) Maximum short-circuit current—symmetrical and asymmetrical, momentary and interrupting
- i) The magnitude and duty cycle or repetition rate and duration of the individual harmonic currents through the switchgear, including the fundamental, during the various conditions in which the harmonic filter will operate
- j) Switchgear BIL
- k) Duty cycle of switching operations (number and frequency)
- 1) Capacitor/harmonic filter switching duty, very low probability of restrike
- m) The natural frequency of the harmonic filter tuning reactor. (This natural frequency affects the rate of rise of recovery voltage across the circuit breaker for a fault in the harmonic filter.)

None of the ANSI/IEEE Std C37 series addresses circuit breaker action in the presence of high harmonic currents. Interruption of current with higher rates of rise or higher rates of rise of recovery voltage may be more difficult for some switches and circuit breakers. The switchgear supplier should be alerted to the application.

6.3.5 Conductors

Electrical conductors with large cross-sectional areas (e.g., buswork, cables, bushings) may be subjected to eddy current and skin effect heating from harmonic currents. The sizing of conductors based on rms current alone may not be adequate. Conductor sizing should be based on the anticipated continuous and short-time harmonic current duty, including the fundamental.

6.3.6 Grounding switch and key interlock

For servicing and maintaining the equipment, a three-phase and neutral grounding switch is often included when using medium-voltage and high-voltage capacitors. In addition, key interlocks are included, which are tied to the main disconnecting device(s), the ground switch, and the enclosure doors if an enclosure is used.

6.3.7 Surge arresters

Surge arresters are used at a harmonic filter installation to prevent filter component failures or other system equipment failures during switching surges, limit the risk of repetitive circuit breaker restrike, and limit lightning-induced overvoltages. The primary protective function of the arrester will determine its location and rating.

Arresters connected line to ground at the harmonic filter terminals will provide general protection of substation equipment from harmonic filter circuit breaker restrikes and lightning, but may not provide substantial reduction in the transients across the harmonic filter capacitor or the harmonic filter reactor. Arresters connected across the harmonic filter capacitors will provide capacitor protection; the surge arresters, however, are exposed to higher steady-state voltages and may be subject to higher surge discharge energies than arresters located on the bus.

6.3.7.1 Specification items

The specifications for arresters used in harmonic filter applications should include the following:

- a) The maximum system line-to-line operating voltage
- b) System grounding (i.e., effectively grounded, impedance grounded, or ungrounded)

- c) Environmental conditions [e.g., ambient temperature range, creepage requirements (industrial pollution), maximum wind velocity, ice loading, seismic requirements, altitude greater than 1800 m above sea level]
- d) Maximum available short-circuit current
- e) Voltage rating or maximum continuous operating voltage (MCOV)
- f) Class (e.g., distribution, intermediate, station)
- g) Mounting arrangements

6.3.7.2 Surge arrester selection

Arresters located at the line terminals of a harmonic filter, where the harmonic voltage distortion is small, are applied in the same way as other arresters located on a power system. Arrester ratings are selected so that the device is able to withstand the MCOV, temporary overvoltage (TOV), and switching surge energy absorption duties. A detailed description of the selection process is given in IEEE Std C62.22-1997.

For arresters located within a harmonic filter, where the voltage distortion may be substantial, the peak applied voltage and harmonic heating should be considered in selecting the arrester rating. For the peak voltage, the sum of the fundamental and all harmonic voltages at the arrester location (times the square root of 2) gives the maximum peak voltage expected. See Equation (17).

$$V_{\text{peak}} = \sqrt{2} \sum_{h} V(h) \tag{17}$$

In order to avoid peaks of the voltage wave from being high enough above the peak of the arrester MCOV to cause "turn on" (conduction) and excessive heating, the arrester MCOV rating should be selected so that

$$MCOV \ge \sum_{h} V(h)$$
(18)

The harmonic (dielectric) heating of the arrester is proportional to the order of the harmonic and the square of the voltage of each harmonic (including the fundamental). In order that this heating not exceed the heating of the same arrester applied at rated frequency only, the arrester MCOV rating should be selected so that

$$MCOV \ge \sqrt{\sum_{h} (hV(h)^2)}$$
(19)

For continuous operation, the MCOV for arresters located in a harmonic filter should be based on the higher value of Equation (18) and Equation (19). In addition to the continuous capability requirements for the arrester, there may be a contingency overvoltage requirement. If there is substantial short-time overvoltage across the arrester, the short-time overvoltage capability of the arrester should be compared with the expected exposure using peak voltages to determine the required MCOV to meet the short-time overvoltage requirements of the application. Alternatively, if the arrester is modeled in a study of the overvoltage phenomena, the arrester energy may be compared with the energy capability of the arrester, as supplied by the surge arrester manufacturer.

The surge protective level of the selected arrester must coordinate with the surge withstand level (e.g., BIL) of the filter component being protected. Usually a minimum margin of 15% for switching surges and 20% for lightning discharge is required between arrester protective level and equipment withstand level. Methods of calculation of protective margins are contained in IEEE Std C62.22-1997.

6.4 Harmonic filter switching control

The switching controls are similar to the controls used with standard capacitor banks. These controls are discussed in IEEE Std 1036-1992. The key factors and differences for harmonic filters are summarized as follows:

- a) If the harmonic filters are switched, they are commonly controlled based on fundamental frequency reactive power and voltage requirements with consideration for harmonics as required.
- b) Although inrush and outrush currents need to be taken into account, they are typically lower in harmonic filter applications due to the presence of the harmonic filter reactor.
- c) Undervoltage conditions are generally not critical for harmonic filter design, unless voltage is lost completely. In that case, the harmonic filters should generally be disconnected from the system immediately until the system is restored to normal conditions. Such timely disconnection avoids dynamic overvoltage conditions that can occur when capacitors are energized with transformers. Dynamic overvoltages can also occur when large transformers are energized after the harmonic filter is in service.
- d) When a small (kilovar), low-frequency harmonic filter (such as a 3rd harmonic filter) is switched with a much larger higher frequency harmonic filter (such as a 5th harmonic filter), the transient voltage in the 3rd harmonic filter may be excessive, resulting in harmonic filter reactor or harmonic filter capacitor failures in that filter. This type of configuration should be evaluated carefully and the equipment rated as required.

Typical harmonic filter switching controls fall into the same categories as listed in the IEEE Std 1036-1992 for standard capacitor installations. They include the following:

- Voltage control
- Current control
- Reactive current control (sometimes referred to as a var control)
- Time control
- Temperature control

Switched harmonic filters using a voltage, current, or var control are usually switched based on the fundamental voltage and reactive power requirements. Controllers or relays should incorporate proper filtering so that the switching signal is based on the fundamental frequency voltage and current and not on other harmonic components.

The switching control or associated control circuitry is usually set with a 5 min delay between opening and closing. This 5 min delay is based on the requirement of IEEE Std 18-2002 for capacitor units rated above 600 V to have an internal device to discharge the residual voltage to 50 V within 5 min. This 5 min delay allows the trapped charge in each capacitor unit to decay to 50 V or less before the bus voltage is superimposed upon it. (Note that capacitors built to standards other than IEEE Std 18-2002 may have different discharge times and require a different delay before re-energizing.)

Where less delay than 5 min is desired, allowing the trapped charge to decay to 10% of the crest of the rated capacitor unit voltage is usually acceptable. (A trapped change of 10% of the crest of rated voltage results in a 10% increase in inrush current and transient overvoltage.) The decay in voltage is exponential. The time in minutes required to reach 10% of the crest of rated voltage, V_{rated} , expressed in kilovolts (for capacitor units reaching 50 V in 5 min) is shown in Figure 9.



Figure 9—Discharge time to 10% voltage for medium voltage capacitor units discharging to 50 V in 5 min

Transient simulations of the switching event of a harmonic filter or multiple harmonic filter arrangement should be conducted to assure that the specifications for the filter components are adequate for the voltages and currents encountered during switching. Each switching contingency condition, such as switching a multiple harmonic filter arrangement with one or more harmonic filters disconnected, should be simulated so that the voltage and current transients are properly considered when creating component specifications. See IEEE Catalog Number: 98TP125-0 [B2] for a detailed discussion of the importance of transient simulations of harmonic filter arrangements.

6.5 Protection

The purpose of harmonic filter protection is to increase filter availability by providing an alarm to personnel for minor faults and allowing the filter to remain in service and by tripping the bank for greater unbalance before severe damage occurs. Protection of a harmonic filter begins in the filter design stage. Considering the design of the protective relaying scheme during the design of the harmonic filter can result in a more effective protective relaying design. IEEE Std 1036-1992 and IEEE Std C37.99-2000 discuss the details of capacitor bank protection. Issues of special concern for the protection of a harmonic filter are overvoltage, overcurrent, unbalance, and harmonic overloading.

6.5.1 Relay considerations for harmonic filter applications

Relays are usually not specifically designed for harmonic filter protection. Concerns with specific types of relays used in harmonic filters are discussed as follows:

a) *Mechanical overcurrent relays.* The torque imposed on an induction disk per ampere of current decreases as the frequency of the current increases. Thus, the output signal of this type of relay is not a correct representation of reactor rms current. However, a mechanical relay can be used for harmonic filter reactor protection if sufficient margin is added to the reactor current rating to compensate for the relay's inaccuracy. Calculating the margin will generally require testing the specific relay to be used in a harmonic filter application in order to determine its harmonic response, as this information is not typically available from the relay vendor.

- b) *Solid-state relays.* These relays have lower burden and may have better filtering than electromechanical relays.
- c) *Digital overcurrent relays.* Most digital relays used for fault protection sample current at a rate that is not sufficient to detect harmonics of interest. Any digital fault relay that is not certified to have true rms measuring capability should not be used in harmonic filter overload applications. Relays that respond to the fundamental current only may be preferred for unbalance protection.
- d) *Thermal relays.* Thermal relays that sense temperature directly are effective for enclosed filter designs. These relays may sense the air temperature in the enclosure or the core surface temperature of iron-core, harmonic filter reactors.

Unenclosed medium-voltage or high-voltage air-core harmonic filter reactors cannot use direct temperature sensing relays because BIL considerations make imbedding sensors in the reactor windings impractical. Such applications can use relays in which the measured current heats a bimetal element or other type of temperature sensor. However, commonly available relays of this type are designed for motor overload protection and tend to be more "inverse" than desirable for harmonic filter protection. To coordinate a motor relay in a harmonic filter subject to varying harmonic filter injection, the harmonic filter reactor current rating must be increased if the motor relay is to protect the harmonic filter reactor against a legitimate continuous overload without tripping during short-term periods of high harmonic load that would not damage the reactor.

e) *Programmable monitor/controller units*. Programmable monitor/controller units usually calculate the harmonic content of the sensed current correctly and provide digital outputs for relay operation. However, some programmable monitors are unsuitable for harmonic filter protection for subtle reasons such as lack of anti-aliasing filters on the monitor inputs.

6.5.2 Overvoltage protection

The key points of overvoltage protection of a harmonic filter are summarized as follows:

- a) *Surge protection*. Refer to 6.3.7 for a discussion of this topic.
- b) *Bus overvoltage*. The application of capacitors inherently results in a voltage rise at the fundamental frequency. To protect the harmonic filter from abnormal system voltages that could damage filter components, bus overvoltage relays or harmonic filter overcurrent relays designed to derive the true overvoltage on the harmonic filer capacitors may be applied.
- c) *Harmonic overvoltage*. Excessive harmonic currents may result in excessive harmonic filter capacitor voltages. Refer to 6.5.5 for further discussion of this topic.
- d) *Harmonic filter capacitor bank unbalance.* Unbalances due to external or internal fuse operations or the shorting of elements in a fuseless harmonic filter capacitor bank may result in excessive capacitor voltages in parts of the harmonic filter capacitor bank. Refer to 6.5.4 for further discussion of this topic.

6.5.3 Overcurrent protection

The key points of overcurrent protection of a harmonic filter are summarized as follows:

- a) *Harmonic overcurrent*. Excessive harmonic currents may result in excessive harmonic filter capacitor voltages and/or excessive heating in components such as harmonic filter reactors and harmonic filter resistors. Refer to 6.5.5 for further discussion of this topic.
- b) Harmonic filter capacitor fusing. Capacitor fuses are used to remove faulted capacitor units or elements from service quickly enough to prevent case rupture or damage to other capacitor units or elements. Power fuses are often used to provide major fault protection. Power fuses, individual external capacitor fuses, or internal fuses cannot provide harmonic filter capacitor overload protection. Fuses must be sized, and possibly derated, to withstand, without damage, the harmonic currents and the transient and dynamic overcurrents associated with application in a harmonic filter. In addition, the fuses must be rated for the power frequency and transient recovery voltages occurring in a shunt

capacitor bank. Refer to IEEE Std C37.48-1997, IEEE Std 1036-1992, and IEEE Std C37.99-2000 for more guidance about fuses for shunt capacitor bank applications.

c) *Major fault protection*. Major fault protection is generally provided by an external device such as a power fuse or switching device with associated relay circuits.

6.5.4 Harmonic filter unbalance and detuning protection

Usually the most critical function of the unbalance protection is to trip the harmonic filter capacitor bank off promptly for a flashover or fault within the bank that may not be detected by the overcurrent protection. Such arcing faults within a capacitor bank frequently create very high transient overvoltages within the capacitor bank and will lead to substantial damage if the capacitor bank is not promptly tripped (refer to IEEE Std C37.99-2000).

Unbalance and detuning protection (hereafter referred to as *unbalance protection*) refers to the detection of and the protective actions taken for external or internal fuse operations or the shorting of elements of a fuseless harmonic filter capacitor bank. Such fuse operations or shorting of elements changes the capacitance of the filter and may result in an increase in fundamental voltage applied to the remaining units/elements. The effects of this capacitance change and potential increase in fundamental voltage must be evaluated to determine the appropriate protective action. Generally, the same methods of unbalance protection used for standard capacitor banks are also used for harmonic filter capacitor banks. The key points of unbalance protection of a capacitor bank used in a harmonic filter are summarized as follows:

a) External or internal fuse operations or the shorting of elements of a fuseless harmonic filter capacitor bank changes the resonant frequency of the harmonic filter from its design point. Fuse operations in a parallel connected harmonic filter capacitor bank result in a decrease in capacitance and a corresponding increase of the resonant frequency. There is also the possibility that the shorting of elements of an externally fused capacitor without the fuse operation will result in an increase in capacitance and a corresponding decrease of the resonant frequency.

The shorting of elements of a fuseless harmonic filter capacitor bank results in an increase in capacitance and a corresponding decrease of the resonant frequency. Refer to 6.6 for a discussion of the consequences of filter detuning.

In specifying the unbalance protection requirements for a capacitor bank used in a harmonic filter, it is desirable to indicate the maximum capacitance change (+ and - tolerances) that can be tolerated. The detuning of the filter may be a more stringent condition in the unbalance protection than the resulting overvoltage on the remaining units/elements.

b) Unbalance protection schemes in which ambiguous indications are a possibility are of special concern to the designer of a harmonic filter if the number of capacitor element or unit failures is being used as a criterion to avoid damage due to a change in filter tuning. Ambiguous indications occur when the harmonic filter capacitor bank is "in balance" after more than one fuse operation or element fault. For example, a negligible current should flow through a current transformer connecting the neutrals of a balanced ungrounded-double-wye capacitor bank; however, the same negligible current should flow through the current transformer if an equal number of fuse operations/element failures occur in the same phase of both wye sections. Thus this type of scheme does not indicate that there have been failures.

Where ambiguous indications are a possibility, it is desirable to have an unbalance detection scheme designed to issue an alarm either upon the first fuse operation of either an externally or internally fused harmonic filter capacitor bank or upon the first failure of an element in a fuseless bank. Having such a sensitive unbalance detection scheme will minimize the probability of having undetected canceling failures that result in detuning of the filter.

c) Arcing faults within the harmonic filter capacitor bank require the bank be removed from service promptly to minimize the damage. As a fault external to a capacitor unit can result in a large change in the filter capacitance and thus significantly detune the filter, the effects of such a fault need to be examined by the filter designer. Although the primary protection in the event of an arcing fault is

generally the unbalance protection, certain harmonic filter capacitor bank configurations provide no unbalance signal for some faults within the harmonic filter capacitor bank. In these cases, the following may provide protection:

- 1) Separating the portions of the harmonic filter capacitor bank that, if faulted together, would result in no unbalance signal.
- 2) Reconfiguring the harmonic filter capacitor bank.
- 3) Designing the phase overcurrent relaying scheme to protect in the event of such an arcing fault. (Refer to IEEE Std C37.99-2000 for further discussion on this topic.)
- 4) In order to assure that harmonic voltages or currents do not adversely affect trip or alarm levels, relays for unbalance protection may need to be filtered so that operation is based only on fundamental voltage or current.

6.5.5 Harmonic filter overload protection

Harmonic filters may be subject to overloading from unanticipated harmonic sources, unanticipated resonance, or other contingencies. There are two types of overload protection with which the designer of a filter may be concerned:

- a) *Thermal overload.* High harmonic currents can result in thermal overload of filter components such as reactors, resistors, instrument transformers, and fusing and switching devices. Although the capacitor units are typically designed with ample current-carrying capacity, even they can be thermally overloaded if the currents are high enough. The losses internal to a capacitor unit include the following:
 - Dielectric losses
 - $I^2 R$ losses of the conductor
 - $I^2 R$ losses of any internal fuses
 - $I^2 R$ losses of the discharge resistor

All of these losses are affected by harmonic currents. The heat resulting from the harmonic filter capacitor unit internal losses combined with a high ambient temperature may result in excessive capacitor unit internal temperatures. Refer to IEEE Std 18-2002 for more information on the maximum ambient temperature conditions under which capacitor units may be applied. Refer to the capacitor unit manufacturer for guidance on selecting capacitor units for harmonic filter applications.

Metal-enclosed harmonic filters, or similar installations, may require forced ventilation to ensure the ambient temperature in the enclosure where the harmonic filter capacitors are mounted does not become excessive. Iron-core harmonic filter reactors are often used in metal-enclosed harmonic filters. If iron-core harmonic filter reactors are used in an enclosed harmonic filter, it is recommended that they be placed above the harmonic filter capacitor units or in a separate compartment. Air-core harmonic filter reactors may be used inside an enclosure with the same consideration as iron-core harmonic filter reactors. However, additional component clearances must be allowed due to the external magnetic fields that are present in air-core harmonic filter reactors.

b) *Voltage overload*. Voltage overload due to excessive harmonic currents is a concern for the harmonic filter capacitor units and the harmonic filter reactors. As harmonic filter reactors are typically designed with robust turn-to-turn insulation, voltage overload is typically not a problem except in cases of dynamic events such as transformer energization.

Relays that respond to the true rms current can be used to protect harmonic filter reactors and harmonic filter resistors from excessive fundamental and harmonic currents. Other relaying schemes are sometimes used, particularly for installations tuned to several frequencies.

Harmonic filter capacitor overload protection can be provided by current integration methods to calculate the voltage applied to the capacitors by the fundamental and harmonic currents. One method of detecting possible excessive harmonic overloading of metal-enclosed equipment is by the use of temperature relays monitoring the temperature in the enclosure. Note that power capacitors are intended to operate in a maximum ambient temperature of 40 $^{\circ}$ C, while most other metal-enclosed switchgear can operate in a 55 $^{\circ}$ C ambient.

6.6 Harmonic filter design procedure

The purpose of this subclause is to illustrate the design process for harmonic filters in a systematic manner showing how the information from the previous subclauses is used. It is not intended that the method for harmonic simulations and modeling be detailed. Other references [e.g., IEEE Std 399-1997 (*IEEE Brown Book*)] provide adequate detail for modeling a power system and performing power frequency and harmonic analysis. Instead, the subclause will focus on the conditions to consider when performing the studies and how the data are used to specify harmonic filtering equipment.

The design of a harmonic filter requires information about the power system and the environment in which the harmonic filter will be installed. This information includes system characteristics such as nominal system line-to-line voltage, typical equipment BIL for the system voltage level, and fundamental frequency. Environmental data such as ambient temperature, wind loading, etc., should be available. The owner should make decisions, such as equipment location (indoor versus outdoor) and operating constraints, before the design begins, as these decisions will affect certain aspects of the design. A clear understanding of the equipment's current duty cycle and switching repetition rates is also important for the design.

Harmonic filter design requires basic information on the power system and the local harmonic generation. This information includes system configurations, impedance of system components (e.g., transformers, lines, sources, capacitors, harmonic filters, shunt reactors), nominal and maximum voltage, load power ratings and power factors, and harmonic generation. Harmonic measurements at the site are the most accurate means of getting harmonic information if the loads are already installed. If not, then the equipment manufacturer should supply the harmonic characteristics.

6.6.1 Step 1: Determine harmonic filter bank kvar size

In addition to harmonic filtering, the filter equipment will provide the system with capacitive reactive power that will improve the power factor and help maintain voltage during heavy loads. The capacitive reactive power requirements for power factor and voltage control generally determine the "effective kvar" size of the harmonic filter. The effective kvar of the harmonic filter is always less than the nameplate kvar of the harmonic filter capacitor because of the subtractive effect of the filter reactor. The rated kvar is calculated in Step 4 of the design process (see 6.6.4).

Power flow programs are often used to determine the capacitive reactive power requirements. The factors that should be considered when performing these studies are explained in 4.1, 4.3, and 4.5. These factors are summarized as

- Number of harmonic filter capacitor steps to be switched
- Range of system voltage variation
- Range of load variation
- Power system configurations-normal and contingency, existing and planned

6.6.2 Step 2: Select initial harmonic filter tuning

Based on the harmonic generation, an initial estimate of the harmonic filter tuning is made. The tuning is usually designed to reduce harmonic voltage and current distortion to meet specified harmonic performance criteria. To meet this objective, the harmonic filter will typically be tuned to the lowest frequency of the most significant harmonics. For example, if the highest harmonic current levels were for the 5th and 7th

harmonics, a single filter tuned near the 5th harmonic may be sufficient for control of the distortion. Later evaluations with a harmonic analysis program may determine that other harmonic filters are required also.

Harmonic filters are not usually tuned to exact harmonic frequencies. Tuning directly to the harmonic frequency may have two undesirable consequences:

- a) The low impedance at resonance can result in nearly all harmonic current at that frequency being absorbed by the harmonic filter. The harmonic filter is required to be larger and more expensive than is needed to achieve the required harmonic performance.
- b) The harmonic filter interaction with the system impedances results in a parallel resonance at a frequency just lower than the tuned frequency. If a harmonic filter is designed exactly at the harmonic frequency, a variation in the impedance values of the actual equipment from the design values could retune the harmonic filter and place the parallel resonant frequency very close to the harmonic. Instead of low impedance, the combined harmonic filter-system impedance becomes resonant at the harmonic frequency, distortion levels become unacceptable, and damaging voltage amplification may result in severe cases. Changes in the system supply can shift the parallel resonance also. The most common mechanisms that cause a shift in the resonance are as follows:
 - Harmonic filter capacitor unit/element failure. Externally and internally fused banks have fuses that operate when a unit or element shorts. The fuse operation, which reduces the total capacitance, increases the resonant frequency of the harmonic filter. On the other hand, shorted elements in a fuseless harmonic filter capacitor bank (or in an externally fused harmonic filter capacitor bank prior to fuse operation) are not removed from the circuit. The capacitance rises and the resonant frequency decreases.
 - 2) *Tolerances*. Manufacturing tolerances in both the harmonic filter reactors and the harmonic filter capacitors, and capacitance change due to temperature variations in the capacitors.
 - 3) System variations. Power system configurations are not static.
 - The loss of one of two parallel transformers or of one of two supply feeders can weaken the source and shift the parallel resonance to a lower frequency.
 - Routine maintenance can often result in a "weakening" of the source supplying the harmonic-producing load.
 - Portions of overhead circuits may be replaced with underground lines, and lines may be relocated.

These changes will impact the impedance between the source and the load.

It is often advantageous to tune the harmonic filter to approximately 3% to 15% below the desired frequency. This tuning will provide for sufficient harmonic filtering, yet will also provide allowance for the detuning of the harmonic filter.

For some installations with multiple harmonic filters tuned at different frequencies, tuning individual harmonic filters below the harmonic frequency may not be advantageous. Harmonic filter performance across the entire harmonic frequency spectrum at the harmonic filter location under both normal and contingency conditions should be considered.

The reactance of the harmonic filter capacitor is determined by the var size of the harmonic filter. The inductive reactance is selected to create a series resonance with the harmonic filter capacitor at the tuned frequency. The series resonance provides a low impedance path to neutral for the harmonics of the system.

A simple equation to calculate the capacitive reactance (for a filter tuned to the h harmonic) at power frequency is Equation (20).

$$X_{\rm C} = \left(\frac{h^2}{h^2 - 1}\right) X_{\rm eff} \tag{20}$$

where

$$X_{\rm eff} = \frac{kV_{\rm LLsys}^2}{Q_{\rm eff} \,({\rm Mvar})}$$
(21)

A simple equation to calculate the inductive reactance at power frequency is Equation (22).

$$X_{\rm L} = \frac{X_{\rm C}}{h^2} \tag{22}$$

where

| $X_{\rm eff}$ | is the effective reactance of the harmonic filter, |
|--------------------|--|
| $Q_{\rm eff}$ | is the effective reactive power (Mvar) of the harmonic filter, |
| V _{LLsys} | is the nominal system line-to-line voltage, |
| X _C | is the capacitive reactance of the harmonic filter capacitor at the fundamental frequency, |
| XL | is the inductive reactance of the harmonic filter reactor at the fundamental frequency, |
| h | is the harmonic number. |

If the harmonic filter tuning is chosen to be slightly less than the harmonic frequency as suggested, the *h* of Equation (22) will be noninteger. For example, *h* will equal 4.7 for a 5th harmonic filter tuned to 282 Hz on a 60 Hz system.

An alternative objective in harmonic filter tuning may be to avoid harmonics rather than reduce them. This alternative is sometimes used where the harmonic distortion levels are not critical, but the user wants to avoid overloading the harmonic filter capacitor with harmonic currents and avoid creating a harmonic resonance in the power system. In this case, the harmonic filter is ungrounded (to avoid 3^{rd} harmonic resonance with the system) and tuned below the 5^{th} harmonic (i.e., 4.3^{rd} or 4.7^{th}) to avoid resonance at a characteristic harmonic (e.g., 5^{th} , 7^{th}).

6.6.3 Step 3: Optimize the harmonic filter configuration to meet harmonic guidelines

IEEE Std 519-1992 provides guidelines for harmonic distortion limits. The harmonic filter must limit both voltage and current distortion over a range of normal system configurations as well as abnormal conditions. The analysis can be done by hand calculations for simple systems. Usually, however, a harmonic simulation program is required to adequately assess each of the possible operating conditions over the frequency spectrum of the harmonic loads. IEEE Std 519-1992 and IEEE Std 399-1997 provide guidance on performing the required studies.

The harmonic studies will finalize the number of harmonic filters, harmonic filter tuning, and the location of the harmonic filters based on compliance with the harmonic guidelines. The factors that should be considered when performing these studies are summarized as follows (see 4.3 through 4.7 for more information):

- a) Number of harmonic filter steps to be switched
- b) Outage of a harmonic filter, if more than one harmonic filter is used
- c) Range of system voltage variation
- d) Range of load variation
- e) Power system configurations—normal and contingency
- f) Detuning of the harmonic filter by changes in system frequency, range of component manufacturing tolerances, capacitance variation with severe temperatures, and harmonic filter capacitor unit outages
- g) Characteristic and uncharacteristic harmonics
- h) System background harmonics

If distortion levels are still too high, it may be because the addition of a harmonic filter has caused a new parallel resonance with the system near one of the lower frequency harmonics. In this case, a retuning of the harmonic filter to the lower harmonic frequency can sometimes be adequate. If it is not, then multiple-tuned harmonic filters may be needed.

The broadness of the tuning can be increased to account for capacitance and inductance deviations by increasing the filter kvar size.

Harmonic analysis can finalize the tuned frequency or frequencies and values of the capacitance(s), inductance(s), and resistance(s) (if needed). Allowable tolerances for capacitance, inductance, and resistance may be established. The Q (X/R ratio) of the harmonic filter reactor at the tuned frequency and the steady-state energy dissipation requirements for the harmonic filter resistors can be determined by the analysis.

An outcome of the analysis will be harmonic spectra for voltage across and the current through each filter component (e.g., capacitor, inductor). A typical harmonic spectrum includes the fundamental and all significant harmonic frequencies. Spectra for normal and contingency conditions are usually included in the results.

6.6.4 Step 4: Determine the component ratings

Once the harmonic filter performance is optimized, the component ratings are determined. The process is sometimes an iterative one requiring adjustments to the harmonic filter design if component standards cannot be met.

Harmonic filter capacitor ratings are usually the first to be determined followed by harmonic filter reactor, harmonic filter resistor, and switch ratings. The harmonic duties used in the rating process should be the highest values determined from Step 3 (see 6.6.3).

Transient simulations may also be desirable to determine component ratings for some harmonic filter designs, particularly where harmonic filters tuned to different frequencies will be connected to the same bus. The effect of transformer energizing is also evaluated in transient simulations.

6.6.4.1 Harmonic filter capacitors

Capacitors are rated by voltage and kvar. These ratings are usually determined by the capacitor manufacturer based on the harmonic spectra, transient overvoltages, var requirements, and system data specified by the user.

Subclause 6.3.1 states that the capacitor voltage rating is determined from the greater of three types of voltage stresses: steady-state (including harmonics), transient (lasting less than half a cycle), and dynamic (lasting up to several seconds). Transient overvoltages are associated with harmonic filter switching and sometimes circuit breaker operations. Transient overvoltages are not usually severe unless multiple harmonic filters with different resonant frequencies are connected to the same bus. In general, dynamic overvoltages can be avoided by not energizing transformers and capacitors simultaneously (see 6.4). See 6.6.4.4 for additional details on switching related overvoltages.

In most single-tuned filter applications, the harmonic filter capacitor voltage rating is based on steady-state duties. The phase-to-neutral voltage rating for the harmonic filter capacitor is calculated using Equation (11) (from 6.3.1).

$$V_{\rm r} = \sum_{h=1}^{\infty} I(h) X_{\rm C}(h) \tag{11}$$

SPECIFICATION OF HARMONIC FILTERS

The capacitor voltage ratings should be specified so that the highest peak voltage applied to the harmonic filter capacitors (i.e., fundamental plus harmonics) is not greater than 100% of the peak of the voltage rating of the capacitors. Exception can be made for infrequent contingencies per Item c)3 in 6.3.1. (The rated voltage of the harmonic filter capacitors from this calculation will never be less than the value calculated across the capacitors at maximum bus voltage, including the voltage rise across the harmonic filter reactor.) The voltages across the harmonic filter capacitor (i.e., combined fundamental and harmonic) must be computed from the worst case determined in Step 3 (see 6.6.3). The worst case is generally a contingency case rather than a normal operating condition. In the absence of a digital computer program, a reasonable estimate of the rated line-to-neutral voltage may be obtained by summing just the fundamental frequency voltage and the tuned frequency voltage. See Equation (23) through Equation (25).

$$V_{\rm C}(1) = I_f(1)X_{\rm C}$$
⁽²³⁾

$$V_{\rm C}(h) = I_f(h) \frac{X_{\rm C}}{h}$$
⁽²⁴⁾

$$V_{\rm r} = V_{\rm C}(1) + V_{\rm C}(h) \tag{25}$$

where

 $V_{\rm C}(h)$ is the voltage across the harmonic filter capacitor caused by the harmonic current,

 $I_f(h)$ is the harmonic current,

 $V_{\rm C}(1)$ is the fundamental frequency voltage across the harmonic filter capacitor,

 $I_f(1)$ is the fundamental frequency current through the harmonic filter capacitor,

 $X_{\rm C}$ is capacitive reactance at the fundamental frequency.

The approximations in the these equations are based on the fact that in most applications the harmonic filter capacitor voltage is dominated by the fundamental and the harmonic closest to the resonant frequency of the harmonic filter.

The fundamental frequency current, $I_f(1)$, can be calculated by Equation (26).

$$I_f(1) = \frac{V_{\rm S}}{(X_{\rm C} - X_{\rm L})}$$
(26)

where

 $V_{\rm S}$ is the voltage across harmonic-filter-capacitor-harmonic-filter-reactor circuit,

 $X_{\rm C}$ is the capacitive reactance at fundamental frequency,

 $X_{\rm L}$ is the inductive reactance at fundamental frequency.

Tuned frequency current assumes $I_f(h)$ = maximum harmonic current available from the system at the resonant frequency of the harmonic filter (e.g., 5th harmonic).

The fundamental frequency current flowing in the harmonic filter capacitor can be computed easily from Equation (26). The harmonic currents are a part of the design criteria for the harmonic filter (see Annex C). The total rms current in the harmonic filter is calculated by

$$I_{\rm rms} = \sqrt{\sum_{1}^{\infty} I(h)^2}$$
(27)

Copyright © 2003 IEEE. All rights reserved.

The total rms current through the harmonic filter capacitor units should be less than 135% of the capacitor unit nominal current based on the rated kvar and the rated voltage. In addition, the current should be kept within the capability of the harmonic filter capacitor fuses. Actually, the current is seldom a limiting factor when the lower order harmonics are involved. It is difficult to exceed the current limitation without exceeding the other limitations unless the harmonic order is high.

The final check in the harmonic filter design is to see that the dielectric heating of the harmonic filter capacitor is acceptable. The dielectric heating is evaluated by the inequality [see Equation (6) in 4.2.2].

$$\left|\sum_{h} (V(h)I(h))\right| \le \left|1.35Q_{\text{rated}}\right| \tag{6}$$

where

- V(h) is the voltage drop (kV) across the harmonic filter capacitor at harmonic number h,
- I(h) is the current (A) flowing through the harmonic filter capacitor at harmonic number h,
- *h* is the all harmonics [including the fundamental (h = 1)],

 Q_{rated} is the the capacitor bank rated kvar, based on nameplate data.

It is important to note that the rated kvar of the harmonic filter capacitor bank is not the same as the effective reactive power of the harmonic filter because of the effect of the reactor.

For continuous duty, it is very desirable to build the harmonic filter with more capability than is required for the identified harmonic loads. Other harmonics on the system will be drawn from the system and may lead to overloading. Some overrating should allow for this overloading. The incremental cost per kilovar of adding capacity for harmonic absorption is much lower than the average cost per kilovar of the harmonic filter. Therefore, a generous margin in specifying the harmonic duty is generally desirable.

The basic information supplied to the harmonic filter capacitor manufacturer should include the specification items listed in 6.3.1.

6.6.4.2 Harmonic filter reactors

Items to include in harmonic filter reactor specifications are listed in 6.3.2. Many of these items are the same as specified for harmonic filter capacitors. In Step 3 of the design process (see 6.6.3), harmonic analysis determined the tuned frequency, inductance, Q (X/R ratio), and the acceptable degree of tolerance in the inductance and Q values for harmonic filter reactor. The fundamental and harmonic current spectra for normal and contingency cases were also determined. Step 4 of the design process involves the following:

a) Determine the location of the harmonic filter reactor physically and electrically with respect to the harmonic filter capacitor. As explained in 6.3.2, the location of the harmonic filter reactor in the circuit influences thermal issues, magnetic flux heating, reactor short-circuit rating, and reactor BIL.

The heating due to fundamental and harmonic currents in an iron-core harmonic filter reactor should be considered in designing metal-enclosed filters. Excessive heating can lead to component degradation. The effect of eddy current losses induced in surrounding metallic structures by an air-core harmonic filter reactor's magnetic flux must be considered. Heating effects in building structural steel, concrete imbedded steel (rebar), electrical grounding systems, and the equipment frame can be substantial. Additional details are provided in Item g) in 6.3.2 and Item a) in 6.5.5.

The harmonic filter reactor can be on the source side of the harmonic filter capacitor or the neutral side. If the harmonic filter reactor is located between the bus and the harmonic filter capacitor, it should be rated to withstand a short circuit to ground at the junction between the harmonic filter reactor and the harmonic filter capacitor.

The BIL rating of the phase-to-ground insulation of the harmonic filter reactor should be similar to the rating of the power transformers connected to the same voltage level. However, a reduction in BIL may be appropriate for a harmonic filter reactor terminal that is connected to ground (solidly grounded harmonic filters). Insulation across the coil may be different from the phase-to-ground insulation. It is designed for the voltage drop (i.e., fundamental frequency and harmonics) and transients across the coil. The coil BIL can be reduced if the coil is protected by a surge arrester connected terminal to terminal. See Item e) and Item g) in 6.3.2.

- b) Evaluate the transient and dynamic overvoltages, if necessary. As discussed with the harmonic filter capacitors, switching multiple-tuned harmonic filters and frequent transformer switching can create excessive stresses on the harmonic filter capacitor and the harmonic filter reactor unless these stresses are accounted for in the design. Transient studies may be necessary to determine the magnitude and duration of the overvoltages. Transient studies determine proper arrester protection for reduced BIL designs. Further details are available in 6.6.4.4.
- c) Calculate the short-circuit current rating for the harmonic filter reactor. The short-circuit current should be calculated based on the maximum system operating voltage. Both rms symmetrical and crest asymmetrical fault current is needed. The duration of the fault due to tripping delay and circuit breaker interrupting time is also needed. See Item f) and Item g) in 6.3.2.

6.6.4.3 Harmonic filter resistors

Items to include in harmonic filter resistor specifications are listed in 6.3.3. Many of these items are the same as specified for harmonic filter capacitors. If harmonic filter resistors are included in the design, Step 3 of the design process (see 6.6.3) would have defined the resistance, the acceptable resistance tolerance, the maximum allowable series inductance in the resistor and the power rating of the resistor. The fundamental and harmonic current spectra for normal and contingency cases were also determined.

Step 4 of the design process involves the following:

a) Determine the location of the harmonic filter resistor physically and electrically with respect to the harmonic filter capacitor. As explained in 6.3.3, the location of the harmonic filter resistor in the circuit influences thermal issues, resistor short-circuit rating, and resistor BIL.

The heating due to fundamental and harmonic currents in a harmonic filter resistor should be considered in designing metal-enclosed harmonic filters. Excessive heating can lead to component degradation. Animal proofing may be needed for outdoor installations. Additional details are provided in Item g) in 6.3.3.

The location of a harmonic filter resistor in a damped harmonic filter is quite variable depending upon the design. Annex B shows several examples of damped harmonic filters. The harmonic filter resistor should be rated to withstand the maximum short-circuit current that can flow through it during a harmonic filter fault.

The BIL rating requirements may also be affected by the position of the harmonic filter resistor within the harmonic filter as with the reactor. Similar considerations apply.

- b) Evaluate the transient and dynamic overvoltages, if necessary. As with harmonic filter reactors, transient studies may be necessary to determine the magnitude and duration of the overvoltages and to design adequate arrester protection, especially if reduced BILs are to be used. Further details are available in 6.6.4.4. Transient studies also determine the resistor energy associated with transient and dynamic overvoltages.
- c) Calculate the harmonic filter resistor short-circuit current rating. The shortcircuit should be calculated based on the maximum system operating voltage. Both the rms symmetrical and the asymmetrical fault current are needed. The duration of the fault due to tripping delay and circuit breaker interrupting time is also needed. See Item c) in 6.3.3.

6.6.4.4 Circuit breaker or switch

Items to include in switchgear specifications are listed in 6.3.4. Step 3 of the design process (see 6.6.3) developed the harmonic current spectra from which the rms continuous current rating can be determined. In Step 4 of the design process, the maximum short-current rating is calculated based on system data. The short-circuit current for the switching device is essentially the bus fault current and is not the same as the short-circuit current for the harmonic filter reactor specification. Although a capacitor switch is not required to interrupt short-circuit current (as opposed to a circuit breaker, which is required to do so), a capacitor switch must be able to handle short-circuit current flow through it for the close-and-latch and momentary requirements.

The capacitive current switching requirement must be based on the worst combination of maximum system voltage, capacitance tolerances, and harmonics. Current transformers and relays must be able to function properly in the presence of harmonics.

As discussed in 6.3.4, filter banks develop a higher recovery voltage across a switch than a shunt capacitor bank. This higher recovery voltage is especially true of 2^{nd} and 3^{rd} harmonic filters in which the dc voltage on the harmonic filter capacitor following interruption is 133% (2^{nd} harmonic) and 112% (3^{rd} harmonic) of nominal power system line-to-neutral voltage. The switchgear manufacturer should be made aware of the additional recovery voltage stress.

6.6.4.5 Switching transients

Back-to-back switching current magnitudes and frequencies are much lower for harmonic filters than for shunt capacitor banks because of the harmonic filter tuning reactor. Consequently, additional current limiting reactors are not needed.

Normally the switching of a single-tuned harmonic filter does not result in any unusual duty to the capacitors or inductors over what would normally be expected in a shunt capacitor bank. However, harmonic filters with several legs may need to be studied for transient performance to assure that there are no unusually high voltages or currents during the initial energization. Restriking during harmonic filter de-energizing can result in particularly high overvoltages across the capacitor and reactor. A transient analysis may be required to determine the switching surge duties.

If the harmonic filter is connected to the system when it is first energized following a system outage, harmonics generated by transformer saturation may lead to short-time overloading of the harmonic filter. If a harmonic filter is not going to be removed automatically during a system outage, it is probably desirable to do a transient study to determine the harmonic filter performance during this event. Similarly, nearby faults that do not cause a system outage but cause a voltage excursion may result in some transformer saturation and a temporary increase in the loading of the harmonic filter. The duty imposed on the harmonic filter by these transients needs to be specified in a way that the proper harmonic filter components can be selected.

These transformer caused overvoltages are frequently referred to as dynamic overvoltages. The saturated transformer core generates low-order harmonic currents (e.g., 2^{nd} , 3^{rd} , 4^{th} , and 5^{th}), which can overload harmonic filters tuned to the same low-order frequencies. The most common source of saturation harmonics is the inrush current associated with transformer energizing. If the harmonic filter is routinely subjected to high inrush harmonic currents from the regular switching of large transformers (often the case in steel mills, see 6.6.6.1.3), then this duty should be included in the specifications.

The transients are not usually easily definable both because of the randomness of the occurrences and because of the decay that occurs over a period of time. Frequently it is desirable to provide the designer with data (such as an oscillogram) from the transient study that gives the worst-case harmonic loading expected during this type of transient along with an identification of the magnitudes of the current by harmonic order at the beginning or worst part of the transient.

Generally, thus, for design purposes it is desirable to provide current magnitude through each leg of the harmonic filter by harmonic order, both continuously and as a function of time, for the worst-case design basis.

6.6.5 Numerical example

A 30 MVA industrial load is supplied from a 34.5 kV bus. The three-phase fault level at the bus is 10.0 kA rms symmetrical. The load has a power factor of 0.85. It is desired that the power factor be raised to 0.95. The load is a source of harmonic current. The magnitude of the harmonic current suggests that the capacitor should be designed as a harmonic filter.

6.6.5.1 Step 1: Determine filter bank reactive power (var) size

The filter bank size is calculated based on the amount of capacitive compensation needed to raise the power factor from 0.85 to 0.95. IEEE Std 1036-1992 provides load power (kilowatts) multiplying factors for calculating compensating reactive power (kilovar) for simple circuits such as the circuit being considered in this example. Power (kilowatts) can be calculated from the apparent power (kilovoltamperes) by multiplying by the uncompensated power factor. See Equation (28) and Equation (29).

$$Q_{\rm eff}$$
 (in kvar) = (multiplying factor)(load power in kilowatts) (28)

$$Q_{\rm eff} = (0.291)(30\ 000\ \rm kVA)(.85) = 7420\ \rm kvar$$
 (29)

The load will need a 7.4 Mvar filter bank to raise the power factor to 0.95. The 7.4 Mvar is the "effective" compensation of the filter bank. The addition of the tuning reactor causes the rated reactive power (megavars) of the capacitor to be different from the effective reactive power of the reactor-capacitor combination.

6.6.5.2 Step 2: Select initial filter tuning

The filter will typically be tuned to the lowest frequency of the most significant harmonics. Harmonic filters are often tuned to a frequency approximately 3% to 15% below the selected harmonic frequency. For example, this "5th" harmonic filter will be tuned to about 6% below 300 Hz. This value is 4.7 times the fundamental frequency on a 60 Hz system.

Using Equation (21) (from 6.6.2), the effective impedance of the filter bank is

$$X_{\rm eff} = \frac{V_{\rm LLsys}^2 \,(\rm kV)}{Q_{\rm eff} \,(\rm Mvar)}$$
(21)

$$=\frac{(34.5 \text{ kV})^2}{7.4 \text{ Mvar}} = 160.8$$
(30)

Equation (20) and Equation (22) (both from 6.6.2) can be used to calculate the capacitive reactance and the inductive reactance of the harmonic filter at fundamental frequency.

$$X_{\rm C} = \left(\frac{h^2}{h^2 - 1}\right) X_{\rm eff} \ \Omega \tag{20}$$

$$X_{\rm C} = \frac{4.7^2}{4.7^2 - 1} \times 160.8 = 168.4 \ \Omega \tag{31}$$

Copyright © 2003 IEEE. All rights reserved.

$$X_{\rm L} = \frac{X_{\rm C}}{h^2} \ \Omega \tag{22}$$

$$X_{\rm L} = \frac{168.4}{4.7^2} = 7.62 \ \Omega \tag{32}$$

where

 $X_{\rm C}$ is the capacitive reactance at fundamental frequency,

 $X_{\rm L}$ is the inductive reactance at fundamental frequency,

h is the harmonic number to which the filter is tuned.

In this example, the value of h is 4.7.

6.6.5.3 Step 3: Optimize filter configuration to meet harmonic guidelines

Once the harmonic filter inductance and capacitance are determined, harmonic analysis can be performed to determine whether the design adequately controls the harmonics to meet the limits. IEEE Std 519-1992 and IEEE Std 399-1997 (*IEEE Brown Book*) provide guidance on performing the required studies. IEEE Std 519-1992 provides guidelines for harmonic distortion limits. If distortion levels are not adequate, the harmonic filter capacitance can be increased, the filter may need to be tuned to a different frequency, or multiple harmonic filters with different resonant frequencies may be needed.

6.6.5.4 Step 4: Determine component ratings

6.6.5.4.1 Capacitors

The voltage rating for capacitors is calculated by Equation (11) (from 6.3.1):

$$V_{\rm r} = \sum_{h=1}^{\infty} I(h) X_{\rm C}(h) \tag{11}$$

The worst-case fundamental and harmonic voltages across the capacitors can be calculated from the worstcase current spectrum and the harmonic filter capacitive reactances. All significant harmonics will be included in the calculation of the voltage rating. The fundamental frequency current for a wye-connected harmonic filter is calculated by Equation (26) (from 6.6.4.1).

$$I_f(1) = \frac{V_{\rm S}}{(X_{\rm C} - X_{\rm L})}$$
(26)

$$I_f(1) = \frac{\left(\frac{34.5 \text{ kV}}{\sqrt{3}}\right)}{(168.4 - 7.62)} = 124 \text{ A}$$
(33)

where

 $V_{\rm S}$ is the maximum system operating voltage, phase to neutral,

 $X_{\rm C}$ is the capacitive reactance at fundamental frequency,

 $X_{\rm L}$ is the inductive reactance at fundamental frequency.

The estimate of worst-case harmonic current through the harmonic filter is beyond the scope of this guide. See Annex C. The harmonic currents for this example are as follows:

- 5th harmonic: 60.3 A
- 7th harmonic: 17.3 A
- 11th harmonic: 8.0 A
- 13th harmonic: 6.5 A

Calculate the total rms current and harmonic voltages as follows:

$$I_{\rm rms} = \left(I_{f1}^2 + I_{f5}^2 + I_{f7}^2 + I_{f11}^2 + I_{f13}^2\right)^{1/2} A$$
(34)

$$I_{\rm rms} = (124^2 + 60.3^2 + 17.3^2 + 8.0^2 + 6.5^2)^{1/2} = 139.3$$
 A (35)

$$V_{\rm C}(1) = I_f(1) X_{\rm C} \, {\rm V} \tag{36}$$

$$V_{\rm C}(1) = 124 \times 168 = 20\ 832\ {\rm V}$$
 (37)

$$V_{\rm C}(h) = \sum_{h} I_f(h) \left(\frac{X_{\rm C}}{h}\right) \, \mathrm{V} \tag{38}$$

$$V_{\rm C}(h) = 60.3 \times \frac{168}{5} + 17.3 \times \frac{168}{7} + 8.0 \times \frac{168}{11} + 6.5 \times \frac{168}{13} = 2647 \,\,\rm V \tag{39}$$

Note that the individual harmonic voltages on the capacitor unit are $(60.3 \times 168 \div 5)$ or 2026 V rms 5th harmonic, 415.2 V rms 7th harmonic, 122.2 V rms 11th harmonic, and 84.0 V rms 13th harmonic.

$$V_{\rm r} = [V_{\rm C}(1) + V_{\rm C}(h)] \, {\rm V} \tag{40}$$

$$V_{\rm r} = (20\ 832\ +2647) = 23\ 479\ {\rm V}$$
 (41)

The voltage rating is greater than the rating required for a shunt capacitor bank applied to the same system because of the 60 Hz voltage rise across the tuning reactor and the harmonic voltage resulting from the harmonic current. Although IEEE Std 1036-1992 allows for continuous operation of the capacitor at a voltage 110% above the rms-rated voltage and 120% above the peak of the rated voltage, these margins should be reserved for contingency operation. Consequently, the design for the harmonic filter rates the capacitor voltage at 100% of the most severe operating condition.

Based on the line-to-line rated voltage of the harmonic filter capacitor and the impedance of the harmonic filter capacitor bank, the rated three-phase Mvar of the capacitor bank is

$$Q_{\text{rated}} = \frac{\left(\sqrt{3} V_{\text{r}}\right)^2}{X_{\text{C}}}$$
(42)

where

 Q_{rated} is the three-phase rating of capacitor bank (Mvar),

 $X_{\rm C}$ is the impedance of capacitor bank, per phase, (Ω).

$$Q_{\text{rated}} = \frac{\left(\sqrt{3} \times 23.479\right)^2}{168.4} = 9.82 \text{ Mvar}$$
 (43)

This value is significantly greater than the required effective reactive power (megavars) calculated at the beginning of the example (7.4 Mvar, in 6.6.5.1). The reason is that the capacitor voltage rating is higher than nominal system voltage as explained previously.

The nominal capacitor current based on rated voltage and rated kvar is calculated to be

$$I_{\rm nom} = \frac{Q_{\rm rated} \,(\rm kvar)}{\sqrt{3} \, V_{\rm rated} \,(\rm kV)} \tag{44}$$

$$I_{\rm nom} = \frac{(9.82 \text{ Mvar} \times 1000)}{\sqrt{3} \times (\sqrt{3} \times 23.5 \text{ kV})} = 139.3 \text{ A}$$
(45)

The actual rms current that will flow in the harmonic filter was calculated in Equation (35) as 139.3 A.

Based on IEEE Std 1036-1992,¹⁸ the total rms current through the harmonic filter capacitor units should be less than 135% of the capacitor unit nominal current based on rated kvar and rated voltage. The nominal current for the sample design is 139.3 A rms. The $I_{\rm rms}$, current duty, with harmonics is 139.6 A rms. Therefore, the current duty is 100.2% of nominal current and meets the IEEE Std 1036-1992 requirement.

The final check in the harmonic filter design is to see that the dielectric heating of the harmonic filter capacitor is acceptable. The dielectric heating is evaluated by the inequality in Equation (6) from (4.2.2):

$$\left|\sum_{h} (V(h)I(h))\right| \le \left|1.35Q_{\text{rated}}\right| \tag{6}$$

To compare against the three-phase rating of the capacitor bank, the left-hand side of the inequality is multiplied by three.

$$|3 \times (20.8 \times 124 + 2.0 \times 60.3 + 0.4 \times 17.3 + 0.1 \times 8.0 + 0.1 \times 6.5)| \le |1.35 \times 9820|$$

$$8124 \le 13\ 257$$
(46)

The inequality is satisfied with substantial margin, the dielectric heating of the proposed design is satisfactory.

It appears that the harmonic filter capacitor is conservatively designed and meets all requirements. Additional capability can be built in to handle other harmonics on the system from unidentified sources that will be drawn to the harmonic filter and could otherwise lead to overloading. Also, as additional loads are added in the area, the new harmonics will be drawn to the low impedance of the filter and may lead to harmonic overloading. Some overrating should be built into the design to allow for this contingency. The incremental cost per kilovar of adding capacity for harmonic absorption to a harmonic filter is much lower than the average cost per kilovar of the harmonic filter. Therefore, a generous margin in specifying the harmonic duty is generally desirable.

6.6.5.4.2 Harmonic filter reactors

In this example, the reactance has already been calculated (7.62 Ω). The harmonic current spectrum was also previously calculated. The short-circuit current at the bus was given as 10 kA. However, this value is not the short-circuit current rating of the harmonic filter reactor. The symmetrical short-circuit current for the harmonic filter reactor is calculated based on the harmonic filter reactor impedance in series with the source impedance (when the harmonic filter reactor is mounted on the source side of the harmonic filter capacitor). The source impedance is as follows:

 $^{^{18}}$ This information is from the referenced standard(s) and does not transplant these limits to this guide. See the first paragraph of Clause 2

$$X_{\rm S} = \frac{\left(\frac{V_{\rm ll nom}}{\sqrt{3}}\right)}{I_{\rm SCBUS}} \tag{47}$$

$$X_{\rm S} = \frac{\left(\frac{34.5 \text{ kV}}{\sqrt{3}}\right)}{10 \text{ kA}} = 1.99 \ \Omega \tag{48}$$

where

 $V_{\rm ll nom}$ is the nominal system line-to-line voltage, $I_{\rm SCBUS}$ is the available short-circuit current at the bus.

The symmetrical short-circuit rating of the harmonic filter reactor is

$$I_{\rm SC} = \frac{\left(\frac{V_{\rm ll nom}}{\sqrt{3}}\right)}{X_{\rm S} + X_{\rm L}} \tag{49}$$

$$I_{\rm SC} = \frac{\left(\frac{34.5 \text{ kV}}{\sqrt{3}}\right)}{1.99 + 7.63 \ \Omega} = 2.07 \text{ kA}$$
(50)

The harmonic filter reactor symmetrical short-circuit rating must be at least 2.07 kA. The fault duration will depend upon protective relaying and circuit breaker operating times. The asymmetrical short-circuit rating can be calculated based on the X/R ratio of the system. The Q of the harmonic filter reactor is usually above 50. The exact number is not critical in many designs. Digital simulations (Step 3 of the design process; see 6.6.3) may be used to assess the sensitivity to the value.

6.6.5.4.3 Circuit breaker or switch

The short-circuit current for the switching device is essentially the bus fault current (10 kA) and is not the same as the short-circuit current for the harmonic filter reactor specification. Although a capacitor switch is not required to interrupt short-circuit current (as opposed to a circuit breaker, which is required to do so), it must be able to handle short-circuit current flow through it for the close-and-latch and momentary requirements.

The capacitive current switching requirement must include consideration for the worst combination of maximum system voltage, capacitance tolerances, and harmonics.

6.6.6 Specific filter application information

6.6.6.1 Arc furnaces

6.6.6.1.1 General

Arc furnace installations employ various types of harmonic filters based on a variety of application objectives. Arc furnaces operate around a power factor of 0.7 to 0.85 lagging and require reactive compensation to correct the power factor. In order to apply power factor correction to a furnace circuit, capacitor banks are generally applied in single-tuned passive harmonic filter configurations. The harmonic filters will improve the circuit power factor and mitigate harmonics generated by the arc furnace and static var compensator (SVC) equipment that might have been installed to control voltage flicker. The result is improved power factor and a reduction in harmonic distortion levels. In addition to the harmonic filters applied on the arc furnace circuit, the rolling mill of the steel manufacturing facilities will also employ harmonic filters to improve power factor and also to mitigate the harmonics generated by the drive systems in the rolling mill.

The design of the harmonic filters will require knowledge of the actual harmonics generated by the furnaces. In most applications, multiple harmonic filters are needed. They can be designed based on the harmonic duty at the filter installation location. The total amount of reactive compensation needed from the filters can be divided into a number of filters based on the percent harmonic current. The tuned frequencies and the number of filters needed are usually based on the plant operating objectives, such as power factor requirements, harmonic limits, voltage flicker limits, SVC limits, etc.

The harmonic filters used in arc furnace applications are typically connected permanently to the furnace circuit. Some installations employ a switching scheme where the harmonic filters will be switched based on the furnace loading.

6.6.6.1.2 Harmonic sources in arc furnace applications

A variety of different arc furnace types are utilized by steel manufacturers based on the plant production. They can be generally divided into two main types: ac furnaces and dc furnaces. Large steel manufacturers use ac furnaces. These ac furnaces can be scrap furnaces or ladle furnaces. The scrap furnaces generate the most significant amount of harmonics, and these furnaces are generally large. The ladle furnaces also generate harmonics, but are less severe compared to the scrap furnaces. Large steel manufacturers also use the dc furnaces, and they are a popular application now. The dc furnaces are typically 12-pulse types, and they can be operated as 6-pulse systems. There are also dc furnaces that are higher pulse order, such as 48 pulse, and they can operate as various lesser pulse systems in abnormal conditions. The principal harmonics generated by the dc furnaces are the typical $h = p \pm 1$ harmonics, where the magnitude of each harmonic is approximately the fundamental current divided by the order of the harmonic $[I(h) \approx I(1)/h]$. Both ac and dc arc furnaces also generate some level of noncharacteristic and interharmonics that must also be addressed or accounted for in the design of the harmonic filters. The presence of noncharacteristic harmonics and interharmonics suggest that it may be necessary to control the parallel resonance modes at those frequencies.

6.6.6.1.3 Arc furnace transformer energizations

Another common harmonic source in an arc furnace installation is the energization of the arc furnace transformer, typically 50 to 100 times a day. Although a transformer energization is a quasi-transient event, it could last from as short as 20 cycles to as long as minutes based on the circuit. These energizations events result in inrush currents that are rich in harmonics. The furnace transformer energization inrush currents should also be considered as a primary source of harmonics when evaluating harmonic filter component ratings.

6.6.6.1.4 Harmonic filter types

The harmonic filter types used are generally based on the arc furnace type. In some applications, other objectives, such as minimizing the total harmonic voltage distortion at the point of common coupling, could also be a factor in the type of harmonic filters used. It should also be noted that some installations would have combinations of furnace types (e.g., ac-scrap, ac-ladle, dc) connected at the same bus. In this case, the overall system should be evaluated for the most effective harmonic filtering scheme. Double-tuned harmonic filters are also used in some applications.

a) *AC arc furnaces—scrap furnaces and ladle furnaces.* The scrap furnaces employ 2nd, 3rd, 4th, and 5th harmonic filters. Based on the installation, any combination of these filters can be found. The lower order harmonic filters, mainly the 2nd and the 3rd harmonic filters, have to be sized to absorb the furnace transformer energization inrush currents and the resulting overvoltages in addition to the

steady-state arc furnace arcing conditions. The harmonic filters are generally passive, single-tuned, shunt filters. More complex dual frequency and C-type harmonic filters are also employed.

b) DC arc furnaces. The dc furnaces employ 5th, 7th, and 11th harmonic filters as a minimum to filter the harmonics generated by the rectification. Due to the harmonics generated by the arcing process, 2nd, 3rd, and/or 4th harmonic filters are frequently used. The harmonic filters are generally passive, single-tuned, shunt filters. More complex harmonic filters tuned to multiple frequencies are also employed.

6.6.6.1.5 Harmonic filter ratings

The harmonic filter ratings should be evaluated based on various operating conditions. The conditions that the harmonic filter should withstand include the following:

- a) *No load condition.* This condition is when the harmonic filter is connected to the system with the arc furnace not operating. The bus voltage will increase, and the increased bus voltage will increase the harmonic filter current. In this case, it can be assumed that the harmonic currents are reduced because the arc furnace is off line.
- b) Worst-case steady-state arcing condition. The most unstable arcing, with the greatest harmonic generation, occurs at the beginning of the melt cycle, when the arcing is to unmelted scrap. During a typical melt cycle, which normally lasts approximately 1 hr, the furnace is charged (i.e., scrap metal is added) twice. Each time the worst-case steady-state arcing (bore-in) lasts approximately 5 min to 15 min, depending on numerous variables. The harmonic filter should be able to withstand the harmonic currents absorbed due to this condition.
- c) *Momentary condition for furnace transformer energizations*. This condition is the most limiting, especially when lower order harmonic filters (e.g., 2nd, 3rd, 4th) are present. The harmonic filter should be rated to handle this condition.
- d) *Switching the circuit breaker or vacuum switch.* The harmonic filter should be able to withstand the transients created by these switching events.
- e) *Back-to-back switching of harmonic filters on the same bus.* The transients created by harmonic filters (or capacitor banks) switched on the same bus should be evaluated. The harmonic filter should be able to withstand these transients, which are not a concern in switching harmonic filters due to the inductance of the harmonic filter reactors.

6.6.6.2 Steel rolling mills

The rolling mill of a steel manufacturing facility will typically include a variety of 6-pulse and 12-pulse drive systems. The harmonics generated by these drive systems are typically the 1/h type harmonics.

The rolling mills typically employ 5th, 7th, and 11th harmonic filters as a minimum. The harmonic filters are generally passive, single-tuned, LC shunt filters. More complex harmonic filters tuned to multiple frequencies are also employed. Some installations will also have lower order harmonic filters installed.

Some rolling mills utilize cycloconverters instead of traditional 6-pulse or 12-pulse drives. A cycloconverter may produce typical 1/h harmonics at times, but also produces interharmonics. Harmonic filter design must accommodate both 1/h harmonics and interharmonics.

Annex A

(informative)

Bibliography

[B1] IEEE 100[™], *The Authoritative Dictionary of IEEE Standards Terms*, Seventh Edition.

[B2] IEEE Power Engineering Society, *IEEE Tutorial on Harmonics Modeling and Simulation*, IEEE Catalog Number: 98TP125-0.

[B3] IEEE Task Force, "The Effects of Power System Harmonics on Power System Equipment and Loads," *IEEE Transactions on Power Apparatus and Systems*, vol. PAS-104, no. 9, pp 2555–2563, Sept. 1985.

[B4] Ludbrook, A., "Harmonic Filters for Notch Reduction," *IEEE Trans. on Industry Applications*, vol. IA-24, no. 5, Sept./Oct. 1988.

[B5] Paice, Derek A., *Power Electronic Converter Harmonics: Multipulse Methods for Clean Power*. New York, NJ: IEEE Press, 1996.

[B6] Rice, D. E., "Adjustable Speed Drive and Power Rectifier Harmonics, The Effect on Power System Components," *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Applications*, vol. IA-22, no. 1, pp 161–177, Jan./Feb. 1986.

[B7] Wagner, V., et. al., "Effects of Harmonics on Equipment," *IEEE Trans. on Power Delivery*. vol. 8, no. 2, pp 672–680, Apr. 1993.

Annex B

(informative)

Harmonic filter types



Figure B.1—Commonly applied harmonic filter types

- a) The band-pass harmonic filter is the simplest type and widely applied. Its advantage is almost zero impedance at the resonant frequency, yielding almost perfect filtering at this frequency. A drawback is the high value of parallel resonance with the network at some frequency below the tuning point, which may seriously amplify other harmonics, possibly creating a new harmonic problem. It has poor filtering of harmonics much above the tuning point.
- b) The high-pass harmonic filter can be an effective compromise between filtering a target frequency and all others above it. It is typically suitable for tuning at 7th or 11th harmonics and higher, and also can effectively dampen high frequency notch-type oscillations. The selection of the resistor can also be adjusted to dampen lower order parallel resonance. The resistor may consume substantial fundamental power; therefore, it is not usually applied at or below the 5th harmonic (see C-type filter).
- c) The C-type harmonic filter has very similar performance characteristics to the high-pass harmonic filter, with the advantage that the resistor consumes no fundamental losses at the nominal parameters. For this reason, it is mainly applied where substantial damping is required on filters tuned at or below the 5th harmonic. It is often used in electric arc furnace or cycloconvertor applications to avoid amplifying low-order and noninteger harmonics.
- d) The Pi-type harmonic filter is essentially two band-pass harmonic filters tied at the midpoints with a resistor. The main advantage of this harmonic filter is good filtering performance at both resonant frequencies, with very good parallel resonance damping. Typically the resistor can have a lower power rating than a high-pass or C-type harmonic filters. It can sometimes save one resistor as compared to installing two high-pass or C-type harmonic filters. A restriction is that the two harmonic filter legs must be switched as one filter group.

Annex C

(informative)

Estimating harmonic filter currents

The estimation of harmonic filter currents is not a part of this guide. For the selection of components for a harmonic filter, the harmonic currents in the harmonic filter are provided by a harmonic analysis of the electrical system where the harmonic filter will be applied.

For purposes of illustration, one simple estimate will be shown in this annex and will provide the inputs for the numerical example in 6.6.5.

Where three-phase (6-pulse) rectifiers dominate the harmonic generation, the harmonic currents generated by the rectifiers can be estimated as follows. The principal harmonics generated are 5^{th} , 7^{th} , 11^{th} , 13^{th} , and so on (6 ± 1, 12 ± 1, and so on). These harmonics are common for adjustable-speed drives.

The amount of current generated at each harmonic is estimated as a fraction of the fundamental current to the rectified load. The 5th harmonic current is estimated as 1/5 of the fundamental current, the 7th harmonic is 1/7 of the fundamental current, the 11th is 1/11 of the fundamental, etc.

Usually harmonics higher than the 11th are not calculated for this type of system, where a simple harmonic filter tuned to the 4.7th harmonic is used. The contribution of higher order harmonics to the design of the filter is negligible.

The harmonic currents generated by the rectified load do not all flow through the harmonic filter. Some will be absorbed by parallel load and some will go into the utility source. The worst case for the harmonic filter design is with negligible parallel load and a high impedance (low fault current) source, so that most of the current will flow through the harmonic filter.

Consider the circuit in Figure C.1, which ignores the parallel load.



Figure C.1—Simple circuit for estimating harmonic filter harmonic currents

An analysis of this circuit can be used to estimate how much of the harmonic current (at each harmonic) will flow through the harmonic filter and how much will go through the source.

SPECIFICATION OF HARMONIC FILTERS

The system source short-circuit impedance is determined at the bus where the harmonic filter will be installed. The short-circuit impedance of interest is the highest (lowest short-circuit current) that will occur during a contingency when the plant is still operating, considering possible changes in the utility source configuration, single versus paralleled source transformers, etc.—anything that will affect the source impedance. The usual short-circuit diagram only shows the maximum short-circuit current, which is important for equipment selection and short-circuit coordination, but not for harmonic filter design.

The effective rating of the filter (kilovars) is determined by the system requirements for voltage support, elimination of power factor penalty, etc.

The rated current of the rectifier load should be generously overestimated to account for possible additions to the plant and for other sources of harmonic current on the electrical system that may contribute harmonic current to the harmonic filter.

The harmonic currents generated by the rectified load are estimated as indicated near the beginning of this annex (e.g., $1/5^{\text{th}}$ for the 5th harmonic). Using these harmonic currents and the parallel impedance of the filter and source, the harmonic voltage may be estimated at each harmonic order (voltage = current × impedance).

Using the harmonic voltage and the harmonic filter impedance at a given harmonic, the harmonic current through the harmonic filter at that frequency may be estimated.

Figure C.2 presents a spreadsheet that illustrates these calculations.

Harmonic current estimate

September 27, 2002 11:43 AM

| 11.407.00 | | | | Harmon | ic order | |
|---------------------------|------------|---------------------|-------|--------|----------|-------|
| System | Fundamenta | l | 5th | 7th | 11th | 13th |
| System voltage | 34.5 | kV (phase to phase) | | | | |
| Short circuit current | 10 | kiloamperes | | | | |
| Impedance | 1.992 | Ohms | | | | |
| X/R ratio | 10 | | | | | |
| System reactance | 1.982 | Ohms | | | | |
| System resistance | 0.198 | Ohms | | | | |
| Filter | | | | | | |
| Size | 7420 | rated kvar | | | | |
| Current | 124.2 | Amperes | | | | |
| Impedance | 160.4 | Ohms | 4.4 | 29.2 | 68.4 | 86.0 |
| Tuning | 4.7 | Harmonic order | | | | |
| Capacitive reactance | 168.0 | Ohms | 33.6 | 24.0 | 15.3 | 12.9 |
| Inductive reactance | 7.6 | Ohms | 38.0 | 53.2 | 83.7 | 98.9 |
| Rectified load | | | | | | |
| Total including factor of | 30000 | kva | | | | |
| safety | | | | | | |
| Current | 502.0 | Amperes | 100.4 | 71.7 | 45.6 | 38.6 |
| System | | | | | | |
| Parallel impedance | | Ohms | 3.07 | 9.45 | 16.61 | 19.92 |
| Voltage (line to ground) | 19918.6 | Volts | 308.0 | 677.9 | 758.1 | 769.2 |
| Filter Harmonic current | | Amperes | 69.6 | 23.2 | 11.1 | 8.9 |
| Total harmonic voltage | 1311.7 | Volts (rms) | | | | |
| Voltage THD | 6.59 | Percent | | | | |

Figure C.2—Spreadsheet illustrating estimated harmonic current